
2/17/2015 https://ia700504.us.archive.org/15/items/bernaldiazdelcas00cunnuoft/bernaldiazdelcas00cunnuoft_djvu.txt

data:text/html;charset=utf­8,%3Cpre%20style%3D%22color%3A%20rgb(0%2C%200%2C%200)%3B%20font­style%3A%20normal%3B%20font­variant%3… 1/171

BERNAL DIAZ DEL CASTILLO 

BERNAL DIAZ DEL 
CASTILLO 

BEING SOME ACCOUNT OF HIM, TAKEN 

FROM HIS TRUE HISTORY OF THE 

CONQUEST OF NEW SPAIN 

BY 

R. B. CUNNINGHAME GRAHAM 

LONDON 

EVELEIGH NASH 

1915 

TO 

WILFRED SCAWEN BLUNT 

OF 

NEW BUILDINGS PLACE 
SOUTHWATER 

PREFACE 

FEW books have had more difficulties to face than had 
the celebrated History of the Conquest of New Spain, 
that Bernal Diaz wrote in his old age. The period at 
which he wrote (1568 circa) is renowned for the 
difficulties to be encountered in its caligraphy. The 
handwriting of Bernal Diaz is exceedingly hard to 
read, twisted and gnarled, and full of strange abbrevia‐ 
tions. Moreover, he spells exactly as he must have 
spoken, setting down aguelo for abuelo (grandfather) 
and bronsne for bronce (bronze), exactly as a Castilian 
countryman might do even at the present day. 

As he was old and war‐worn and had been wounded 
many times, it is not unlikely that his hands were some‐ 
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what crippled, or at the least stiff, and anyhow, more used 
to hold the lance and bridle, than the pen. Although 
the work was known and appreciated almost as soon as it 
was finished, for both Herrera in his General History of 
the Indies? Fray Juan de Torquemeda and the Licen‐ 
tiate Antonio de Leon Pinelo all quote from it, it long 
remained in manuscript. The original MS. was pre‐ 
served most carefully, in Guatemala, first by the descen‐ 
dants of the author, and later by the municipality of the 
place, where it exists to‐day. In the sixteenth century 

1 Historia General de los hechos de los Castellanos en las Islas y Tierra 
firme del Mar Oceano^ Madrid, 1601. 

vii 

viii PREFACE 

a copy was transmitted to Madrid for the King (Philip 
II.) to be used by his historians. 

Up 'to this time all the quotations and the copy were 
probably correct, and taken from the original. In 1632 
a friar, one Alonso Remon, of the order of the Mer‐ 
cenarians, first printed it. At once it sprang into both 
popularity and fame, and ran, after some years, to five 
editions, being considered the most complete of all the 
histories of the conquest of New Spain. 

Already doubts as to the correctness of the editions 
published by Remon had got abroad in Spain, for, 
writing in 1629, Don Antonio de Leon Pinelo remarked 
that Fray Alonso Remon had a "corrected" copy of 
his own, ready to give out for the press. It is a pity 
if he had such a copy that he made no use of it, for all 
through the editions that were published by him, occur 
omissions and interpolations, on almost every page. 
This was pointed out by Don Francisco Antonio de 
Fuentes y Guzman, great‐great‐grandson of the author, 
towards the last years of the century (1600). 

These alterations and interpolations do not in any 
way affect the interest of the book as a whole, and it 
still remains one of the most interesting in the posses‐ 
sion of mankind. What they do is to exaggerate 
numbers, disfigure proper names, and now and then to 
leave out, and sometimes to interpolate a phrase or 
two. Fray Remon has omitted several pages of the 
beginning of the book in which Diaz gives various 
notes about himself and of his family. As Fray Alonso 
Remon was a Mercenarian, he naturally wrote to 
advance the honour of his Order, and several times 
declares that a friar of his habit, Bartolome" de Olmedo, 

PREFACE ix 

was with Diaz in Guatemala, and was the first to preach 
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the faith of Christ. As it is certain this friar was not 
in Guatemala at the time, this seems a little difficult, 
unless, as the publisher l of the correct edition says, we 
admit another miracle, such as that of St. Anthony of 
Padua, who was in two places at the same time. 

Thus after four hundred years the manuscript so 
long preserved in Guatemala has been given to the 
world, just as it came forth from the brain of the old 
conqueror. 

In this, my little sketch, I am not much concerned 
with this or that edition ; but chiefly with the man. 
What I discern in him is steadfastness, sincerity, and 
in the main an absence of the gross superstitions that in 
his time blinded so many of his contemporaries, though 
he was ardent in his faith. His style is nervous, and 
though occasionally involved, remains after so many 
hundred years a well of pure Castilian, into which 
when you let down a bucket, it comes up, filled with 
good water, still sparkling, after the lapse of time. 

Diaz had, as it were, a foot both in the camps of 
literature and arms. One was his natural place, the 
other he made for himself and filled it worthily. 

To be a conqueror and an historian at the same time 
falls to the lot of few. Most conquerors (with some 
notable exceptions) have not been men of words. 

1 Genaro Garcia, Mexico, 1904, published the correct text for the first 
time from the MS. preserved in Guatemala in Diaz's own handwriting. 
Mr. Maudslay has translated the whole voluminous text, extending to more 
than a thousand pages, for the Hakluyt Society. There are two other 
English translations, besides several into French and German, one by 
Maurice Keating, 1800; the other by John Ingram Lockart, 1844. The 
latter places Bernal Diaz beside Cervantes, and says his book is as interest‐ 
ing as Don Quixote. 

x PREFACE 

Bernal Diaz del Castillo wielded both sword and 
pen, and after a long life of action he sat down to write 
in his old age. "Although he loved and reverenced 
Corte*s, his judgment was not blinded by his love, for 
no man saw another's faults more clearly ; but as Don 
Quixote's madness did not abate an atom of the respect 
in which his squire held him, so it was with the soldier‐ 
chronicler and his general. 

When fighting long was done, and he himself was 
Regidor of " this good town of Guatemala," oppressed 
with years, and with his limbs too stiff for any riding, 
but on a pacing mule, he chanced to come upon a 
history of the "Conquest of New Spain" that drove 
him furious. 

He loved Corte*s as perhaps few soldiers in the 
world have loved their generals, but to hear all the 
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Conquest put down to his right arm, whilst he himself 
and all his comrades were quite forgotten and not 
named, stirred up the feelings of equality and pride, dear 
to all Spanish hearts. It was the braver of him, for he 
was poor, unlearned, and of all those who sailed from 
Cuba with Cortes, only five poor old men were left 
alive, crippled by debts and wounds. 

Odds never daunted him his whole life long, either 
by land or sea, or if he fought with Christians or Infidels, 
and though his last adventure into literature was to the 
full as desperate, all things considered, as any he had 
yet encountered, he boldly plunged into it, and wrote a 
book unequalled in its kind in the whole world. Good 
faith and a dry Spanish humour illumine every page. 

After the fashion of the other conquerors of the 
New World he thought that he and all his fellows were 

PREFACE xi 

instruments of God. This attitude persists most 
strongly in the human mind down to the present 
day. 

Arrogance, cruelty, and pride of race, a lust of gold 
and a blind faith in their religion, together with an ab‐ 
solute contempt for that of other men, were the chief 
faults of all the Spanish conquerors ; but in the main 
these faults are incidental to mankind, especially in 
those who find themselves placed, as they were, like 
gods amongst a weaker race of men. Who dare arise 
to‐day in England or in France, in Spain or any other 
land and criticise them ? Rather, it best becomes us to 
wonder at their exploits, forget their crimes and ask 
forgiveness for the sins of the same nature that we, the 
men of progress and of light, have fallen into, not 
having their excuse. They thought themselves the 
instruments of God, just as we think ourselves the 
instruments of progress, and it may be that both they 
and ourselves have been deceived about the estimate 
we put upon our deeds. 

Cortes wrote well and picturesquely. Pedro de 
Alvarado in the two letters that remain to us of his, 
was clear and perspicacious, and neither of them 
coloured facts or canted, or seemed to think that any‐ 
thing he did was in the least unusual for gentlemen 
and Spaniards or for good Christians to do. Most of 
the conquerors who wrote were men in high position, 
well educated and obliged by their rank to deal rather 
with facts than with those little incidental things that 
preserve men and manners for us, and make the differ‐ 
ence between a history and a chronicle. 

Both Alvarado and Corte*s wrote reports, which, as 
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xii PREFACE 

they dealt with stirring times and a new world, were 
interesting and strange ; but Bernal Diaz writes of men 
round the camp fire, preserves their nicknames, tells 
of their weaknesses, and makes us see, not only them, 
but him himself, just as they sat and talked, cleaning 
their arms, or softening their wounds with grease taken 
from a dead Indian, "for medicines we had none." 
Withal, he was a man, honest and steadfast to his 
leaders, patient in hardships and a great lover of good 
horses, a taste befitting to a conqueror, for by the aid 
of horses " under God " was Mexico subdued. So 
much he loved them that he has set down the names 
and colours, qualities and faults of all the horses and 
the mares which came in the first fleet that sailed from 
Cuba with Cortes. 

In a few lines he has embalmed the memory of 
Motilla, the best horse, as he says, either in the Indies 
or in Spain. We know Motilla as we know few living 
horses in the world, almost as well as the bright bay 
with three white stockings, and the long crinkly mane, 
turning his head towards Spinola, in the " Surrender of 
the town of Breda," under the clump of spears. 

Here and there through his book are scattered 
passages that the whole world knows or should know, 
such as the fall of Mexico, with the sudden ceasing of 
the tumult that had gone on for ninety days, " so that 
we, the soldiers, all were deaf, as if we had been in 
a belfry with all the bells ringing, and they had all 
suddenly been stopped." 

This and his description of Cortes, one of the most 
complete and most minute presentments of a man in 
any literature, together with his fine analysis of his own 

PREFACE 

Xlll 

feelings when entering a fight, place the old soldier who 
" knew no Latin " as he says, in the first flight of 
natural writers ... of those men who write, as it were, 
by nature, having been born free of the mystery, and 
not as is more usual, having bought their freedom at 
the price of toil. As to the man himself, he was un‐ 
doubtedly brave and resourceful, weighty in council 
also, for on more than one occasion Corte*s himself 
would have avoided losses and defeat, had he but 
followed his advice. He was not bloodthirsty, taking 
no delight in slaughter for itself, but at the same time 
looking on the killing of the Infidel as something 
necessary, but not to be indulged in as a sport. In fact, 
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he had a sense of justice in his dealings with the 
Indians, and opposed all wanton cruelty. Of all the 
writers on the conquest, either of Mexico or of Peru, he 
stands the first in broad humanity, a quality which with 
jhis vigorous style and terse Castilian speech, make him 
a personal friend when you have read his book, just in 
the way that Sancho Panza and Don Quixote are our 
friends and not mere characters. 

The book has often been translated, and Mr. 
Maudslay's version taken from that of Don Genaro 
Garcia (Mexico, 1894). * s beyond praise, for truth and 
accuracy. No one has written of the man with sym‐ 
pathy, for Prescott did not understand him, being 
weighed down with prejudice and pride, both of religion 
and of race. 

It pleases me to think (though it may be that I 
deceive myself), that I have had some opportunities to 
understand a man such as was Bernal Diaz ; more 
opportunities perhaps than many others who write 

xiv ; PREFACE 

greatly, better than myself, but have lived different 
lives. 

Certain it is that I know little Latin (just as he 
did), or at the best enough to read an epitaph upon a 
tombstone, and that but haltingly. Long years ago, 
I too have heard the Indians striking their hands upon 
their mouths as they came on, swaying like centaurs on 
their horses and brandishing their spears. I too have 
shivered by camp fires, have known night marches 
under the southern stars, down in the grassy Pampas, 
far below Cholechel, in Mexico, in Texas, and in 
Paraguay. 

Horses I have owned, especially a little Doradillo 
. . . but, basta, that way anecdotage lies. 

Lastly, the horses and the men I knew in those 
days, as was the case with Bernal Diaz when he wrote, 
are now long dead. 

R. B. CUNNINGHAME GRAHAM. 

BERNAL DIAZ DEL 
CASTILLO 

CHAPTER I 

BERNAL DIAZ DEL CASTILLO was born in the Castilian 
city of Medina del Campo in 1492, the very year of the 
discovery of America. His father was Don Francisco 
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Diaz del Castillo, called, as his son informs us, el Galan 
(the Gallant), and his mother Dona Maria Diaz Rejon. 
The family came from the mountains of Burgos, where 
still stood their house in Aontonera del Valle de Toranzo 
when Bernal Diaz wrote his chronicle. 

The curious old city of Medina del Campo is situated 
in a vast brown plain. The sandy streets run out and 
lose themselves in the surrounding country, just as 
some rivers lose themselves in various mouths before 
they reach the sea. The great Castillo de la Mota, 
now ruinous, but once a favourite residence of the 
Catholic kings, and prison of Caesar Borgia, guards it 
upon a little hill. To‐day, only a gipsy family feeds 
a few goats in its deserted courtyards, and the great 
keep stands up, deserted, and disintegrating in the sun. 
Far away towers La Sierra de los Credos, and just 

' 
2 BERNAL DIAZ 

outside the town extends a wood of pines looking like 
green umbrellas growing in the sand. 

In the enormous and gaunt plaza still stands the 
house of Pedro Duenas, the great merchant who offended 
Charles v., that austere prince of light‐horsemen, by his 
lavishness in entertainment and display. The house 
with its almenas and horseshoe doorway still remains, 
inside and out, much as when Duenas burnt the 
cinnamon in the great silver brasero, that so much 
scandalised the King. Although presumably it was not 
built when Bernal Diaz played with other brown, beady‐ 
eyed children in the great sandy square, he must have 
known many a mansion of the kind. As he grew up 
he must have talked with many soldiers returned from 
the New World. 

Medina, with its mediaeval air, its Jewry, its quarter 
where the Moriscos dwelt, known to the Christians as 
the Moreria, must have received a shock as startling to 
its slumbrous existence when the first conquerors came 
home as it had done not five‐and‐twenty years before 
when it learned that the last stronghold of the Moors 
in Spain had fallen. Since then it has slept on. The 
train that passes through its little station several times 
a day leaves it unawakened, and as it rumbles on 
towards Madrid or to I run the feeding goats breathe 
freely, and the disintegration of the great Castillo de la 
Mota, with its four flanking pepper‐boxes, slowly goes 
on under the rain and sun. 

However, in its wide and now deserted streets, 
which in those days were full of traffic and of bustle, for 
the old town was a great market for men from every 
part of Europe, the young Bernal Diaz must have heard 



2/17/2015 https://ia700504.us.archive.org/15/items/bernaldiazdelcas00cunnuoft/bernaldiazdelcas00cunnuoft_djvu.txt

data:text/html;charset=utf­8,%3Cpre%20style%3D%22color%3A%20rgb(0%2C%200%2C%200)%3B%20font­style%3A%20normal%3B%20font­variant%3… 8/171

BERNAL DIAZ 3 

strange tales about the Indies, enough to fire his blood. 
Cuba had been subdued and colonised to some extent, 
Jamaica had been won and all the islands of the group 
Columbus first had seen. On the mainland the town of 
Cartagena had been built, that port from which in after 
times the Plate fleet was to sail. 

Nombre de Dios was a struggling settlement Don 
Pedro Arias de Avila was on his way to supersede and 
execute Vasco Nunez de Balboa, he who first saw the 
Pacific from his tall peak ; Ojeda, the young knight who 
walked along the beam left by the workmen in the 
Giralda Tower at Seville, at a giddy height before the 
Catholic kings, and threw a tennis ball over the top, was 
dead. 

The Admiral of the Indies, " Quel gentil Genovese," 
had finished the voyage of his life, found his New World, 
and died, unhonoured, with his chains hanging always in 
his sight to keep the memory of his king's ingratitude in 
mind. 

The conquest, although well begun, had yielded 
little of great value, for Cuba, as Bernal Diaz says, was 
only used to grow cazabe, and to breed horses, and to 
fatten pigs. Peru and Mexico were yet unheard of, 
but the fame of the New World stirred in men's hearts 
and set them itching to be off. 

Cortes, Pizarro, Almagro, Soto, and the rest were all, 
or nearly all, from the province of Estremadura ; but 
Bernal Diaz was a true Castilian of the stock of those 
who later on composed the celebrated infantry that 
marched with Alba, conquered, with the Great Captain, 
and under Julian Romeo waded breast‐high in winter 
to the siege of Bergen, and who in Italy swept through 

4 . BERNAL DIAZ 

the land like locusts, carrying destruction where they 
went. 

About his youth and childhood we know nothing, 
and all the personal details that he has set down about 
himself are that he was of " reasonable stature," l and that 
he was active, quick, and well‐proportioned, and that his 
comrades called him el Galan. The picture of him 
preserved in Guatemala shows him as a man between 
fifty and sixty years of age. His beard is ample and 
trimmed into a point, his moustaches turned up a little, 
after the fashion of the time. His eyebrows are well 
arched and his forehead peculiarly high. His whole 
air is resolute and with something typically Spanish in 
the whole countenance. 

Nothing is known with certainty as to the original. 
The impression on the front page is taken from the 
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edition of his works by Don Genaro Garcia (Mexico, 
1904), which was done from a photograph furnished to 
Don Genaro by the Government of Guatemala. We 
may therefore imagine him, when he first sailed, a 
typical Castilian youth, dark‐haired, well built, reserved 
and quiet in demeanour, but with that air of resolution that 
especially distinguishes the inhabitants of old Castile. 

Diaz, who has left us such striking pictures of Cone's, 
of Montezuma, Alvarado, and Christobal de Oli, has set 
down almost nothing of himself. 

His chronicle begins with one of the most touching 
little prologues that the world of letters knows. 

After having confessed that he is an ignorant man, 2 
and that he scarcely dares to write a prologue or a 
preambulo (as he calls it), he strikes for a moment a high 

1 Raz enable cuerpo. 2 Nosoy Latino. 

BERNAL DIAZ 5 

note of justifiable pride mingled with modesty, a com‐ 
bination quite befitting to a man who had borne his part 
so bravely in the great events he is preparing to describe. 

"It would require," he says, "another eloquence 
and rhetoric than mine to describe the heroic deeds and 
actions that we performed when we won New Spain 
and its provinces, in companionship with the stout and 
valiant captain Don Hernando Cortes. 

Then his age and misfortunes rise to his mind, and 
he continues : " But what I saw, for I was in it, fighting 
and as a true eye‐witness, I will write, by the help of God, 
as plainly as I can, without turning to one side or the 
other, and because I am old, of more than eighty‐four 
years of age, and have lost my sight and hearing, and 
by bad luck I have no other riches to leave to my sons 
and descendants than this my true and notable history." 

He launches into his chronicle with the easy air of 
one who draws a sword 

"In this narrative 1 from the year 1814 when I came 
from Castile, and began to fight 2 on the Main Land, 
and to discover Yucatan and New Spain, and after the 
fashion of my ancestors, and of my father and my 
brother, who were always servants of the Crown, and of 
the Catholic kings, Don Hernando and Dona Isabel 
of glorious memory, I wishing to resemble them a 
little, and as at that time, 1514 as I have said, there 
came as governor of the Main Land a gentleman, one 
Pedrarios Davila, I determined to come with him . . . 

1 Relacion. 
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2 Commence d melitar (militar). There is no word in English that ex‐ 
presses militar succinctly, for it is not only " to fight," but also implies to 
be a soldier. 

6 BERNAL DIAZ 

^ 

and to spare words I will not say anything of what 
happened on the voyage, except that, sometimes with 
good weather, at times with contrary winds, we came to 
Nombre de Dios, for it is so named, and after having 
been there three or four months a pestilence broke out." 

Thus at twenty‐two years of age he found himself 
in the New World. Nombre de Dios, always an un‐ 
healthy and a dull place, was then more dull than usual, 
for the dissension between Pedro Arias and Vasco Nunez 
had not broken out, and as Bernal Diaz says, " there was 
nothing to conquer, and all the country was at peace." 

Bernal Diaz was not a man for times of peace, and 
so, in company with certain hidalgos, soldiers, and 
"people of quality," he asked permission to go to Cuba, 
where Diego Velazquez had just been appointed 
governor. From that instant, till as an old man he 
began to write his memoirs, his life was a long series 
of adventures, both by sea and land. 

After having obtained permission, he and his 
companions embarked in a "good ship," arrived in 
Cuba, kissed the governor's hands, and received the 
usual promises of protection and of help. What they 
asked for was to have Indians given to them in 
encomienda, a phrase which, as "indentured labour" 
does to‐day, really means slavery. Such and such a 
man had "good Indians" (buenos Indios] is a phrase 
that frequently occurs in Bernal Diaz's pages. He uses 
it much in the same way as a man might say so‐and‐so 
had a herd of shorthorns or of polled Angus. 

No Indians, good or otherwise, were forthcoming, 
and three years had elapsed since he first landed in the 
New World. He lacked advancement, as indeed he 

BERNAL DIAZ 7 

did all his life through ; but not for want of striving for 
it. As he says himself: " As we had none of us made 
anything worth mentioning, a hundred and ten of us, all 
friends, who had come over from the Mainland, 1 and 
some who had no Indians, from Cuba, all determined 
to put our money into a common stock and go off to 
discover unknown lands." 

These forlorn adventurers induced a gentleman who 
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was rich and much respected in the island to be their 
captain. Then they bought three ships. Two were 
bought cheaply ; and although Bernal Diaz says that 
they were of "good capacity," they turned out wretched 
and uncaulked. The third they got on credit from the 
Governor, Diego Velazquez. He, perhaps fearing that 
the rabble rout of poor adventurers would never pay 
him for his ship, wished to oblige them to call at certain 
islands between Cuba and the Honduras coast, called 
Los Guanajes, seize the inhabitants, and bring them 
back as slaves. 

The soldiers, though they were ready enough to 
have taken Indians in Cuba, in encomienda, drew the 
line at this. Bernal Diaz writes with some heat : " We 
saw this was a thing that neither God or yet the King 
commanded us to do ... to turn those who were free 
to slaves." He says especially, "when we saw," so 
that no doubt he had a voice in the decision ; and what 
he says gives us the index to his character, upright and 
just, without the least idea of anything outside the 
ordinary morality of the times in which he lived. 

The Governor, who no doubt made what Diaz 
might have called u a rabbit's laugh," 2 saw he had gone 

1 Tierra firme. 2 La risa del conejo. 

* 
8 BERNAL DIAZ 

too far, and said that their protest was a just one, and 
it was better far to go out to discover unknown lands 
than to enslave free men. However, after this he was 
obliged to help them both with stores and with pro‐ 
visions for their voyage. Nothing in the history of the 
conquest of the New World brings more home to one 
the difficulties men had to face than the description of 
this "poor man's fleet" 1 that Bernal Diaz gives. He 
tells how they put on board cazabe flour and bacon, 
buying the pigs at three dollars each for in those days 
in Cuba there were neither sheep nor cows. When 
they had got their provisions all aboard, and had hired 
pilots, they all embarked and sailed to a port called 
Ajaraco, where they picked up a priest "who with kind 
words and promises we induced to come with us." Then 
they set apart a soldier to have charge of the royal fifth. 

Lastly, after hearing mass, and recommending them‐ 
selves to God our Lord and to the Blessed Virgin, they 
set forth into the unknown. At this time Bernal Diaz 
was twenty‐five years of age, and his three years in the 
Indies had probably inured him to a hard life, and 
fortified his mind. His first voyage of discovery was 
of a kind that must have tried his nerves, for all their 
steadiness. 

He and his fellow‐soldiers set out, not in the least 
knowing where they would arrive, except in a vague 
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way, upon the mainland coast. Though they had 
pilots, as he calls them, they must have been really 
navigators, for he expressly says : " We set out towards 
the setting sun without a knowledge of the shoals or 
currents or the prevailing winds . . . with great risk 

1 Armada de hombres pobres. 

BERNAL DIAZ 9 

to ourselves." After twenty‐one days' sailing from 
Cuba they saw land. 

One wonders how they could have sailed so many 
days without striking some island or another in those 
seas. Instantly they found themselves surrounded by 
canoes. For a wonder, the usual fighting that breaks 
out whenever white men visit primitive races did not 
come first from them. The chief of the tribe into 
whose territory they had disembarked attacked them 
suddenly. 

Bernal Diaz says, at the first flight of arrows fifteen 
of his companions were wounded. Then the Indians 
attacked them hand to hand with lances. This was 
his first fight, and he appears to have behaved himself 
as a stout soldier. Naturally the Indians got the 
worst of the attack, and fled, leaving fifteen dead. 
The Spaniards advanced and took their village, and 
found in it several small articles of gold. 

He says: "When we saw these, and that there 
were several houses made of stone, we were delighted 
to have found such a land, for in those days Peru 
was not discovered or known till years had passed." 
Here the first chance of making proselytes occurred. 
Father Gonzalez was on the gospel trail, and as the 
soldiers had taken two Indians prisoners, he straight 
baptized them under the names of Julian and Melchor. 

Bernal Diaz, always on the watch to set down and 
preserve the human document, says that both of them 
were cross‐eyed. So with their cross‐eyed Christians 
and certain idols made of gold that they had found 
in an adoratorio (that is, a place of prayer), they once 
more, after dressing all the wounded, put out again to 

10 BERNAL DIAZ 

sea. After fifteen days' more navigation in their 
"poor man's fleet," they landed to take in water at 
Campeche. Here Diaz had his second baptism of 
blood. The Indians came upon them and drove 
them, retreating slowly, with their faces to the foe, 
back to their ships. 
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Hardly had they embarked than a fierce gale 
sprang up which lasted for four days. At last they 
had to anchor ; then their wretched cables parted, and 
they were drifting on to the rocks when with some 
old ropes they strengthened the remaining one, 
and then the anchor held. "God willed it," says 
Bernal Diaz, "that we should be saved"; but it never 
seems to strike him that God might just as well have 
sent no storm. 

When at last, at a place called Potonchan, they 
had got their water‐barrels filled, they had the first 
intimation, although they could not understand it at 
the time, that Spaniards had visited the coast, for 
the Indians called out to them, " Castilan, Castilan." 
They were, as it appears, struck with the word, and 
talked it over, but could not make it out. At nightfall 
the Indians all gathered together, and it was seen 
they were preparing an attack. 

" We consulted," says Bernal, "with our captain, 
and between ourselves ; and, as is usual in such cases, 
some said one thing and some another. One party 
was for instant embarkation ; the other for falling on 
the Indians before they could deliver their attack." 

Their position was not enviable, for there were, 
as the writer says, three hundred Indians to each man. 
He himself seems to have been in favour of an instant 
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onslaught and quotes with approbation the old proverb, 
''He who attacks prevails." 

This is the first time that we get a real insight 
into his character ; but it is one that shows us what 
he was. During his long and hazardous career he 
still continued to the end always in favour of a bold 
attack. On several occasions his voice was raised in 
after years for a like policy. In fact, it is the policy 
that a man (and a prudent man) almost invariably 
adopts when fighting with wild tribes. 

On this occasion dawn caught them still deliberat‐ 
ing, and at the usual time which I suppose was just 
when the first streaks of light were breaking through 
the night the Indians delivered their attack. Arabs 
and Indians, and in general all wild men, attack at 
dawn, rarely at night, either because of superstitions 
that they hold, or because they know that just at 
daybreak men who have spent the night in watching 
and peering out into the darkness, are tired and stiff, 
with cold, and not in a condition to resist. 

The attack was pushed so strongly home that the 
adventurers were driven to the shore, fighting each 
yard of their retreat. They heard the Indians calling 
out " Al Calchoni" which it appears meant, " Kill the 



2/17/2015 https://ia700504.us.archive.org/15/items/bernaldiazdelcas00cunnuoft/bernaldiazdelcas00cunnuoft_djvu.txt

data:text/html;charset=utf­8,%3Cpre%20style%3D%22color%3A%20rgb(0%2C%200%2C%200)%3B%20font­style%3A%20normal%3B%20font­variant%… 14/171

Captain " ; and Bernal tells us that their leader received 
twelve arrow wounds, and he himself three dangerous 
wounds, one in the left side which penetrated into the 
hollow of his chest. This was the first of all the count‐ 
less wounds that he received during his long career. 
He says that it was dangerous, but nothing else, and 
goes on to relate that they lost fifty of their company, 

1 Quien acomete, vence. 
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of whom two were carried off alive. These were "one 
Alonso Bote," 1 and the other an old Portuguese. 

Those who have seen a prisoner after death, who 
has died under his Indian captor's hands, may form 
some sort of an idea about their fate. Those who 
have not and I suppose most of my readers fall into 
this class need waste no time in racking their imagina‐ 
tion, for the imagination of the Indians is sure to have 
outgone theirs at least a hundredfold. 

Still fighting steadily, the Spaniards slowly were 
driven back towards their boats, with Bernal Diaz 
crippled (as we may suppose by his three wounds) 
struggling along in the front rank. When they got 
to the shore, the rush for safety was so great that 
several of the boats were sunk, and many of the soldiers 
killed by the Indians as they endeavoured to get in. 
" When we saw ourselves safe aboard the ships, we 
counted up our dead, and found that fifty‐seven were 
missing." These had died either of their wounds or 
thirst. 

Their wounds were sore with the salt water, and 
" some of our men cursed the pilot Anton de Alaminos 
and his voyage of discovery . . . for they were sure 
that where we were, was on an island, and not on the 
mainland." 

Having got to sea, they found only one sailor was 
un wounded, and the general, Francisco Hernandez de 
Cordoba, had twelve arrow wounds, of which he 
subsequently died on his return to Cuba, in his 
own house. They were thus in a miserable plight, 
and at each place they landed to take water the 

1 Un Alsonso Bote. 
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Indians attacked them instantly. At last they landed 
in Florida, as their commander was almost dead from 
thirst. There Bernal Diaz was wounded in the arm ; 
but, as he says, not badly. In fact, it could not have 
been severe, for he with the rest charged with the 
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water to their waists upon the Indians and slew 
many of them. Here they lost the one man who 
had remained without a wound in the first fight, and 
were again forced to embark. 

" Oh what a hard thing it is" (he says) "to go out 
to discover new lands, and in what a way did we put 
ourselves into peril ! Only those who have passed 
such labours as those which we endured can under‐ 
stand what we passed through." 

Though he wrote this at the same time he wrote 
the rest of his book that is, in Guatemala, fifty years 
after the events these his first adventures seem to 
have made a deep impression upon his mind. Although 
he was in just as perilous a plight times without number 
in later years, he never breaks out again in the same 
style, but writes of what he suffered in a spirit almost 
of satisfaction with himself. 

When they got back to the Habana many of the 
wounded men succumbed, and all they had to show were 
but two Indian prisoners, " whom we called Melchorillo 
and Juanillo," and several boxes and wreaths and 
diadems of gold. These the governor took and sent 
home to Castile, with a few idols of burnt clay and figures 
of animals. In Spain some of the wiseacres judged 
that the Indians who made the things must have 
descended from the Jews that Titus and Vespasian had 
banished from Jerusalem. They might as well have said 

t 
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that they were descended from the dwellers in the cities 
of the plains ; but the opinion that the Indians were Jews 
prevailed amongst the unlearned and the pious almost 
to present times. 

What is interesting in this first expedition in which 
Bernal Diaz had a share is that the first stone houses 
found in the New World were seen, and he says : " As 
Peru was not discovered, it occupied men's minds." He 
sums up the whole fact of the adventure thus : 

"So that all of us soldiers who went out on this 
discovery spent all we had, and were glad enough to 
return alive and not remain behind with those who died. 
Our captain (as I said) died shortly after his return, and 
all of us were long in getting cured of our wounds ; and 
after counting up, we found that about sixty of our men 
had died. This was the gain we brought from that 
discovery." 

He does not rail at Fate, still less at Providence ; 
indeed, a Spaniard of those days was as little likely to do 
so as an Arab, for both take all that Allah sends without 
a word. 
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Bernal Diaz and certain of his friends who lacked 
advancement in the Habana for the governor, Diego 
Velazquez, gave them no Indians either good or bad 
hired a canoe which was going laden with cotton 
shirts to take them to La Trinidad. If his last voyage 
had been adventurous and without profit to him, except 
in that experience which a man usually buys dearly, 
makes but little use of, and only values when the time 
is past to profit by it, this proved disastrous indeed. 

After eleven days of travelling, partly under sail and 
partly paddling, a storm arose that cast the canoe upon 

BERNAL DIAZ 15 

a reef. There they undressed and swam to shore, naked 
and penniless, and miles from where they had to go. 
Their sufferings were terrible, for the fierce wind and 
sun had chapped their skin, so that the blood dropped 
from the cracks upon the ground. Starving and footsore, 
and after having torn the bark from trees to make some 
sort of a protection for their feet, wreathed round the 
waists with leaves like an heraldic " salvage man," at 
last they reached an open beach of sand. In two days* 
travel they arrived at a small Indian settlement called 
Yaguarana, of which at that time, as God willed it, the 
priest was Bartolome* de las Casas, who was to rise to 
fame, and die the apostle of the Indians, and there they 
got relief. Thence they went to a town called Chipiona, 
and Bernal Diaz says : " A friend of mine, Antonio de 
Medina, gave me the kind of clothes that they used in 
that town. Then with my poverty and hardships I went 
to Santiago de Cuba." There he saw the governor, and 
" kissed his hands." 

The governor promised to write to Spain and lay 
his case before the King, but in the meantime said to 
him : " My son, go with the expedition I am fitting out, 
and I will undertake that you are duly honoured in it." 

One would have thought that Bernal Diaz had had 
almost enough of barren honour, but, like an honest 
soldier as he was, he seems to have set about his prepara‐ 
tions without a protest or a word. In fact, quite un‐ 
deterred by his bad luck, he and above two hundred of 
his comrades put what they had into the common store 
to purchase food and arms. 

In 1 5 1 8 Grijalva's expedition sailed to Yucatan. With 
it went Bernal Diaz and others, who in the future were 

t 
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captains of Cortes'. "As these," says Bernal Diaz, 
" were all gentlemen, and came as captains, it would be 
discourteous to name them dryly " (that is, without their 
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titles). 

They were Pedro de Alvarado ("he of the leap"), 
Francisco de Montejo, and Alonso de Avila. Avila 
always had been the cradle of good fighters, as the two 
lines 

"El que mas habil es para la guerra 
Se llama Avile's en esa tierra " 

amply testify. 

"Know therefore," says Bernal, "that Pedro de 
Alvarado was a valorous gentleman who, after that New 
Spain was conquered, was Governor and Adelantado of 
the provinces of Guatimala, Honduras, and Chiapa, also 
Commendator of Santiago. Also Francisco de Montejo 
was a brave gentleman, and he became Governor of 
Yucatan." 

Others, in writing of an expedition as important as 
was that Grijalva led, would have confined themselves 
to what are called hard facts. That is to say, they 
would have written only about the fights, the number of 
the Indians killed, the signs of gold, and of their own 
ideas about what they had done. When one reads 
histories of that kind written by able, but wooden‐headed 
men, you shut them with a sigh, lamenting that all 
human interest has been so rigidly suppressed. Bernal 
Diaz wrote in a different way, and so he breaks off in 
his tale to tell us how the town of Matanzas l in Cuba 
came by its name. 

It happened, so he says, that a ship coming from the 

1 Matanzas=\hz Massacre, or the Slaughtering. 

BERNAL DIAZ 17 

Bahamas was wrecked upon the Cuban coast, close to 
the river and the port known to‐day as Matanzas. In 
it there were some thirty Spaniards, men and women ; 
and the Indians of the place, seeing them helpless, set 
upon them and killed all but one woman and three men. 
This woman, as she was handsome, was carried off and 
married to a chief. " I knew her" (Bernal says) "years 
afterwards, when the whole island was subdued and she 
was taken from the Chief and married to a man who 
lived in the town of La Trinidad, one Pedro Sanchez 
Farfan. I also knew the men. One was called Mexia. 
He was an old man, and a native of Jerez. Another 
was Juan de Santisteban, who was a native of Madrigal. 
The last was named Cascorro, born in Huelva. This 
fellow was a fisherman, and the Chief, who had him in 
his power, had married him to his own daughter, and his 
ears and nose were pierced just like the Indians'." 

Details of this kind make a book of history really a 
history of what took place, and are worth pages of 



2/17/2015 https://ia700504.us.archive.org/15/items/bernaldiazdelcas00cunnuoft/bernaldiazdelcas00cunnuoft_djvu.txt

data:text/html;charset=utf­8,%3Cpre%20style%3D%22color%3A%20rgb(0%2C%200%2C%200)%3B%20font­style%3A%20normal%3B%20font­variant%… 18/171

generalities, if we wish to understand the times. For 
all his habit of digression, and his excursions into what 
he himself calls old tales, few writers of the time (or for 
that matter of any other time) had a keener view of what 
was necessary to observe in expeditions of the kind. 
After his dive into etymology, he tells how they arrived 
at Cozumel, and that the island had a good harbour and 
a well‐built town, and that the bay was clear of reefs. 

He and some others landed, and found no one but 
two old men and a young Indian girl, who was good‐ 
looking and who talked to them in the language of Jamaica 
(that is, in the Carib tongue), " and as I and several of the 
soldiers knew that speech, which is the same as that of 
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Cuba, we asked her how she came to be so far away 
from home." 

It appeared she had been shipwrecked from a canoe, 
in which she and ten Indians of Jamaica had started out 
to fish. Her comrades had been sacrificed to the idols 
and she herself enslaved ; and as no Indians but herself 
and the two old men were seen, " Captain Juan de 
Grijalva saw it was losing time to wait, so we embarked, 
the Jamaican Indian woman came with us, and we set 
forth again upon our voyage." They were now running 
down the coast of Mexico towards Yucatan, and at last 
came to the same place (Champotan) where the Indians 
had attacked them in the former expedition under Her‐ 
nandez de Cordoba. 

No sooner had they landed than they were attacked. 
This time they were prepared, and every soldier wore 
a jacket made of quilted cotton that was arrow‐proof. 
For all that they lost three men, and Captain Juan 
Grijalva received three arrow wounds and lost two teeth 
by a stone from a sling. Bernal gives us his recollec‐ 
tions thus : 

" I remember that as we fought, we were upon a 
stony tract of land in which were many locusts, and as 
we fought they jumped up from the stones and flew 
about us and struck us in the face, and as the bowmen 
(of the enemy) were numerous and shot their arrows at 
us as thick as hail, they looked like locusts flying, and 
we forgot to raise our bucklers, thinking the arrows were 
but locusts, and thus the arrows wounded us. At other 
times we thought the locusts were a flight of arrows. 
This gave a lot of trouble." 

Few would have remembered such an incident 
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after fifty years, and fewer still would have had the 
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sense to write it down, even if they had remembered 
it. The next place where they landed was at the 
mouth of the Tabasco River, which they called the 
Rio de Grijalva, after their captain. 

Julianillo and Melchorejo (for Bernal Diaz gives 
them all kinds of diminutives of their respective names) 
understood the language well. Grijalva told the 
Indians that they came from a far country and were 
the subjects of a great Emperor, whose name was 
Charles. He also said that as the aforesaid Emperor 
had many powerful vassals, the Chief of Tabasco 
should recognise him too for his superior. He also 
offered him glass beads, those herald Mercuries of 
civilisation the whole world over, in exchange for 
hens. 

The Chief replied, with the unanswerable logic of 
the savage mind, that as to taking the glass beads, 
he was quite content ; but that it seemed a little strange 
that men who came out of the sea, and who had seen 
them for the first time in their lives, should wish to 
give them a new lord. These sort of savage arguments 
were generally answered with a discharge of firearms, 
to show the arguers that logic does not always pay, 
unless you have good guns. On this occasion Grijalva 
was obliged to temporise, not being strong enough to 
use force, the greatest argument of civilised and of 
uncivilised savages alike. 

This was the first occasion at which Bernal Diaz 
had assisted at a palaver of the kind, though in the 
future he attended many such a one under the banners 
of Cone's. 

20 BERNAL DIAZ 

A little farther down the coast Pedro de Alvarado 
gave the first indications of his spirit of insubordination, 
that afterwards cost Cortes so dear in Mexico. He 
ran his ship up a river without orders from his chief, 
and kept the expedition waiting ; and when he did 
appear, his captain, not unnaturally, took umbrage at 
his zeal. 

Still farther down the coast, at the mouth of a river 
that they named " El Rio de Vanderas," 1 Bernal Diaz 
witnessed a scene Arcadian in itself, and yet he renders 
it, by force of simple language, still more Arcadian, and 
makes it read like an idyl by Theocritus. 

The Chief of the district was the first man who made 
known to Europeans the name and power of the Great 
Montezuma 2 and the name of Mexico. 

This Chief, together with two others, one of whom 
was a governor of Montezuma's, invited all the officers 
of Grijalva's fleet to a conference and a banquet, for 
the meeting had the character of both. 
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" As we disembarked," Diaz says, " we found the 
three Caciques, 3 and with them many other Indians 
in attendance. They had (before them ?) many chickens 
of that land, maize bread, which they are accustomed 
to eat, and fruits, as pineapples and zapotes, which 
in other places are called mimayes, and they were 
sitting under the shade of trees on mats laid on 
the ground. On them they bade us seat ourselves, 

1 Diaz frequently writes " Vandera " for " Bandera," so that we know 
exactly how he talked. 

2 Bernal Diaz invariably refers to Montezuma as "el gran Montezuma." 

3 " Cacique " is the word all the old Spanish writers used in speaking of 
an Indian chief. It is, I think, a Carib word originally, but has long passed 
into the Spanish language. 
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by signs ; for Julianillo, as he was from Cape Catoche, 
did not understand their tongue. Then they 
brought braziers made of clay, full of charcoal, and 
censed us with a kind of gum which smells like frank‐ 
incense." 

The chiefs and Spanish officers ate, talked, 
and parted friends, exchanging presents such as 
beads, hawkbells, and other things which the 
Indians must have longed for since the beginning 
of the world, but could not come by till they met 
the Spaniards, for little images of gold, which images 
we are glad to learn were not of a high value, as 
the gold was alloyed. Thus both parties parted, 
satisfied and pleased. 

Such meetings must have been frequent in those 
days, and evidently Bernal Diaz felt, though he does 
not say so, how interesting the little ceremony was. 
When they sailed, they took away with them an Indian 
who came voluntarily, and was baptized under the name 
of Francisco, and who, Bernal Diaz says, he saw long 
afterwards living near Mexico. 

To what strange chance the names of many places 
in the New World were due is seen by the story that 
Diaz tells of a place three or four days from where 
the chiefs had given them the feast. It appears that 
they arrived at a place called Culua, and that upon 
the very day they went ashore a human sacrifice was 
going on. They asked the newly Christianised Francisco 
what was the cause of it, and he replied, being a 
stammerer, " Ulua, Ulua," meaning it was the custom 
of the people of Culua ; and from this stammering answer 
San Juan de Ulua took its name. Diaz tells us also 
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that the name Yucatan was the mistake of a Spaniard 
who heard the natives say the words "Yuca Tale," 
which, he says, meant "Yes, there is Yuca"; and he 
laughs heartily at what he styles " the so‐called land 
of Yucatan." 

The expedition had a better ending than the 
former one, in which Bernal had made his first 
voyage as a conqueror. It arrived at Santiago de 
Cuba with about twenty thousand dollars' worth of 
gold they had collected, and added so much to the 
knowledge of the coast that in the future a voyage 
to Mexico became less of an adventure into un‐ 
charted seas. 

As it happened, although neither of the two expedi‐ 
tions were aware of it, news had reached Montezuma 
of their arrival, and even pictures of the leaders of the 
Spaniards been sent to Mexico. Upon this expedition 
Bernal Diaz planted several orange pips, which grew, 
and from them came all the oranges of Mexico, 
for it appears the tree was quite unknown on the 
Mainland. 

"I want to tell," he says, "how I sowed some 
orange pips close to an idol house, and it was in this 
way. As there were many mosquitoes on that river, 1 
I went to sleep close to a high idol house, and near 
to it I sowed seven or eight pips that I had brought 
from Cuba, and they took root, for it appears the priests 
of the idols took care the ants did not destroy them, 
and weeded and watered them when they saw that the 
plants were different from any that they knew. I 
have remembered this and set it down because those 

1 It seems to have been in the Province of Panuco. 
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were the first orange trees which were planted in New 
Spain. . . . After the land was pacified (that is, con‐ 
quered), I went back for my plants, transplanted them, 
and found they had done well." 

Participation in these two expeditions had turned 
the raw Castilian youth into a hardened soldier, fit 
to bear his part in the adventures that were waiting 
for him under Cortds. Before he launches into his real 
narrative of the Conquest of Mexico, he devotes a 
chapter to the errors of other chroniclers, especially to 
those of Francisco Lopez de Gomara, who was an 
educated man. 

" As I was writing this account I saw by accident 
a history written in good style ... by one Francisco 
Lopez de Gomara . . . and when I read his sounding 
paragraphs and saw my own work was so rude, I left 
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off writing and even was ashamed that it should appear 
amongst notable people, and being thus perplexed, as 
I have said, I began to read again . . . what G6mara 
had written in his book . . . and I saw that he was 
all out . . . and when he set about to speak of cities 
and their population, that it was all the same to him 
whether he wrote down eight or eight thousand. Again, 
about the enormous slaughter that he said we made, 
when we ourselves were not above four hundred men, 
who had enough to do to defend ourselves from being 
killed or taken prisoners. Even if the Indians all had 
their hands tied, we could not have killed so many of 
them as he says. I swear, Amen, that every day we 
were praying God and our Lady that we should not 
be cut to bits. Coming back then to our story, Alaric, 
that famous king, and Atila, that proud warrior, did 
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not kill half so many in the plains of Catalonia, as he 
says we killed." 1 

All this, and many a passage of the sort, show 
Bernal Diaz as a lover of the truth, simple and stead‐ 
fast, modest about his own attainments, and most 
lovable. 

1 In all instances, I translate freely, and do not profess to give Bernal 
Diaz's exact words, but have tried to give them the feeling in English that 
he conveys in Spanish, and I have preserved his curious construction. 

CHAPTER II 

THE governor of Cuba, Diego Velazquez, spurred on 
by the accounts brought by the two former expedi‐ 
tions, determined now (1518) to send another to the 
coast of Mexico. 1 This was the memorable expedition 
that Cortes commanded, and how he came to do so 
Diaz relates in his inimitable style. After the fashion 
of most appointments of the kind, it seems to have been 
the result of an intrigue. However, Diaz, with his 
eye for facts, notices this but briefly, and at once begins 
to tell us of Cone's. 

" There was," he says, "a good hidalgo, called 
Hernando Cortes, a native of Medellin, who was the 
son of Martin Cone's de Monroy and Catalina Pizarro 
Altamirano, both people of good family, though poor. 
... He was of one of the good families of Estremadura, 
and had Indians in that island (Cuba), and a little time 
before had made a love match with a lady called Dona 
Catalina Suarez Pacheco." 

It appears that from the first Bernal Diaz conceived 
both admiration and respect for this good hidalgo, 
although that did not blind him to his faults. In every‐ 
thing he did and wrote, Diaz shows his strong common 
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J The name, of course, was not applied yet to the country, and only 
rumours of Montezuma and his power had reached the Spaniards on the 
coast. 

25 
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sense and his clear‐sightedness. So he loved Cone's 
for his good qualities, his courage, tenacity, patience in 
hardships and in difficulties. He admired his fluency 
in speech, his tact and his diplomacy ; and though he 
made a hero of him, his admiration was the more worth 
having, for he perceived his hero was a man. 

One thing is notable about both Diaz and his con‐ 
temporary, Ciezo de Leon, who with Corte*s himself and 
Don Alonso de Ercilla were amongst the only actual 
conquerors to write about the wars. They all insisted 
on the dangers they had run, and Diaz in especial 
complains that Fray Francisco de Gomara in his history 
makes light of their achievements. He says, talking 
about the retreat from Mexico and of the siege, " . . . 
we escaped, but some four hundred and forty men, and 
all were wounded ..." and "yet he says (Gomara) that 
we found everything like going to a feast." To‐day 
the contrary tendency is to be observed : the soldier, 
when he writes, often makes light of his achievements 
and the perils he has run ; but the civilian writer, who 
has never seen a fight, dwells on each horror and each 
incident, till he makes war even more hideous than it is. 

So does taste change as time goes on, and who shall 
say which taste is best that of to‐day, or that of the days 
when Mexico was won ? For all is fashion, as it is in the 
arts, in literature, and everything out of the region of 
mere facts. 

As Diego de Velazquez, Governor of Cuba, was 
fitting out another expedition for the shores of Mexico, 
there was much competition as to the command. Diaz 
and those who had been with him in his expedition 
were not unnaturally in favour of the claims of Juan de 
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Grijalva, who, Diaz says, was a good captain and knew 
how to command. As a good soldier, Diaz always 
knew exactly who was born to command and who was 
not as, for example, when he speaks about Christobal de 
Oli, whom he styles " brave, but fit not to command, 
but to be commanded." However, Diego Velazquez 
gave the command to Hernando Cone's, but instantly 
seems to have been seized with qualms about his loyalty. 

His suspicions were fostered by his friends, who set 
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a half‐witted man, one known as Mad Cervantes, to 
shout out on a Sunday as they came out from Mass, 
"Oh, Diego, Diego, what sort of captain have you 
chosen ? . . . This man from Medellin is sure to steal 
your fleet." This fellow, set on by the Velazquez family, 
was, as Bernal Diaz said, not so far out, for " often 
madmen are right in what they say " ; but he goes on, 
"Thus was Corte"s elected, by God's grace, to help our 
holy faith and serve His Majesty." The instant he was 
sure of the command, Cortes embarked in preparations, 
buying arms, guns and horses, and stores of every kind. 

Diaz says, from that moment he commenced to take 
care about his clothes, and wore a plume of feathers with 
a gold medal that became him well. Before that he 
had been poor and much in debt ; but now found credit, 
and having borrowed four thousand dollars, had a stand‐ 
ard made, on which was written on a gold ground, with 
the royal arms and a cross in each corner, " Brother, let 
us follow the sign of the Holy Cross with true faith, and 
under it we shall win the day." This was in Latin, a 
fact which always impressed Diaz, as he knew none 
himself. 

At this point we may take it the real life of Bernal 
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% 
Diaz really began. Before, in the two expeditions in 

which he had served, he had been a faithful soldier, 
valiant and diligent, and noting down all his impressions 
of the new world in which he found himself ; but his chief 
claim to fame was yet only the planting of his orange 
trees. Now he became a trusted soldier of Cortds, and 
a man of some experience, knowing, in fact, more of the 
country which they were sailing to, than most men in 
the fleet. 

When they arrived at the town of La Trinidad, they 
picked up Pedro de Alvarado and his four brothers, 
Alonso de Avila, who had been with Diaz in Grijalva's 
expedition, Christobal de Oli, Gonzalo de Sandoval, 1 
and, in fact, all the chief captains who shared the con‐ 
quest with Cone's. Here they put on board much 
stores of bacon and cassava bread, for Diaz tells us in 
those days there were few cattle and few horses in the 
island (Cuba), and these cost a great price. 

However, Cortes bought a grey mare for a hidalgo, 
one Alonso Puertocarrero, who had no horse, paying 
for her with some gold shoulder‐knots, which he had 
had made in Santiago, and wore upon a velvet doublet, 
to which Diaz refers with pride. In this town came 
letters from Velazquez revoking his commission to 
Cortes. From the first Bernal Diaz was one of his 
strongest partisans. Cortes sent him by land with Pedro 
de Alvarado and fifty soldiers to the Habana, and came 
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himself by sea, nearly being lost upon the way. In the 
Habana they were joined by several men of note, such 
as Francisco de Montejo, who after the Conquest was 
Governor of Yucatan. 

1 This was the owner of the good horse " Motilla.' 
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" There came," says Diaz, "a certain Angulo . . . 
and one Pacheco, and So and So Gutierrez, a Rojas 
(not the rich Rojas) . . . and Juan de Najera (not the 
deaf one, who had the Tennis Court in Mexico), and 
many others, all men of quality, and other soldiers whose 
names I cannot call to mind." 

After relating how Cortes was recalled by Velazquez 
and obeyed the summons, although he did not think fit 
to comply with it, as the phrase was in those times in 
South America, 1 Diaz refutes several errors into which 
the other chroniclers had fallen, especially those of 
Gomara. 

As time goes on, he gradually forgets to do this, till 
the last chapter, where, with a memory almost unequalled, 
one would think, in any man, he names dozens of soldiers 
who had set out from Cuba with Cortes, recalling even 
their nicknames and appearance, full fifty years after the 
events took place. 

When Cortes joined them in the Habana, which he 
was prevented doing for some days, as his ship had run 
upon a rock and had had to be unladen before they 
could get her off, the expedition may be said fairly to 
have got under way. Bernal Diaz tells us that the days 
they stopped in the Habana were not lost, for all the 
arms were overhauled, and quilted cotton jackets, that 
were so much used as armour by the Spaniards of the 
Conquest, were repaired and must have been much 
needed, for amongst the Indians " there is much arrow 

1 When an order came from Spain that was impossible to execute, the 
Viceroy, after putting the letter to his forehead just as the Arabs do to‐day 
with an important letter, wrote on it, " I obey, but do not comply " (Obedezco, 
$ero no cumplo), and the incident was closed. 

' 
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and spear work, and stones fly thick as hail." They 
also practised shooting at a target, and Cortes for the 
first time set up a regular household and " began to be 
treated like a lord." When all was ready they embarked 
the horses and set up mangers in the ships for them to 
eat from. Their food was maize and dried grass. 

" I wish to put down here," says Bernal Diaz, "from 
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memory, all the horses and the mares that we embarked. 
Captain Cortes, a black bay, which died in San Juan de 
Ulua ; Pedro de Alvarado and Hernando Lopez de 
Avila, a bright bay mare. She turned, out very good, 
both for tilting and to race, when we got to New Spain. 
Pedro de Alvarado either bought the other share of her 
(from Lopez de Avila) or else took it by force. Alonso 
Hernandez Puertocarrero, a grey mare. She was fast, 
and Cortes bought her (for Puertocarrero) for a gold 
shoulder‐knot. Juan Velazquez de Leon, another grey 
mare, and she was very strong ; we called her Bobtail ; 
she too was fast, and had a splendid mouth. 1 Christobal 
de OH, a dark bay, a very good horse. Francisco de 
Montejo and Alonso de Avila, a dark chestnut horse ; 
he was no good for war. 

" Francisco de Morla, a dark bay, very fast and well 
bitted. Juan de Escalante, a light bay with three white 
feet ; he was no good. Diego de Ordas, a grey mare. 
She was barren and a pacer, but not fast. Gonzalo 
Dominguez (a first‐rate rider), a very good and fast 
dark bay horse. Pedro Gonzalez de Truxillo, a good 
bay horse that turned out very fast. Moron, from La 

1 Revuelto really means that a horse turned round very quickly. I 
translate it a good mouth, as no horse in England ever turns quickly, as 
anyone who has ever watched them can testify. 
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Trinidad, a piebald horse, inclining to black in the 
markings, with white fore‐feet ; he turned out worthless. 

" Lares the fine horseman, a good horse, bay in colour, 
but rather light and a good galloper. Ortiz the musician, 
and one Bartolome Garcia, who had goldmines, a good 
black horse that was called the Drover. He was one 
of the good horses that we took aboard the fleet. Juan 
Sedeno from the Habana, a brown mare, and this mare 
had a foal on board the ship. This Juan Sedeno was 
the richest soldier in the fleet, for he had a vessel of his 
own and the mare, together with a negro and much 
cassava bread and bacon. 

"In those days there were no horses to be got, or 
negroes either, except at a great price, and that was 
why we embarked no more horses, for there were hardly 
any to be had ; and let us leave the matter, and I will 
tell what happened, just as we were ready to embark." 

What happened was that Velazquez the Governor had 
repented of his confidence, and sent one Gaspar de 
Garnico to take Cortes prisoner and stop the sailing of 
the fleet. However, as Velazquez sent no force with 
Don Gaspar, Cortds made, as they say in Spanish, " the 
tradesman's ears " * that is, refused to hear and wrote a 
letter to the Governor full of "good words and offers of 
his services," a thing which, Bernal Diaz says, Cortds 
knew very well how to do. In fact, one of CorteV chief 
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accomplishments was letter‐writing, as his letters to the 
Emperor, Charles v., are there to testify. Few con‐ 
querors, except Julius Caesar and Napoleon, could have 
equalled them. 

In this instance, as his chronicler points out, he 

1 Orejas de mercader. 

r 

32 BERNAL DIAZ 

was in a secure position, for all the chief men of the 
fleet, such as the Alvarados, Montejo, Puertocarrero, 
Christobal de Oli, and "all of us," were strongly on his 
side. "All of us" is most significant, and shows that 
Bernal Diaz, though he so clearly saw Cortes' cunning 
in his letter‐writing, was from the first his faithful 
partisan. 

By this time Bernal Diaz seems to have become 
recognised as a man to be depended on, for Cone's sent 
him with Pedro de Alvarado, as he relates with pride, 
to go in front to Cozumel. 

They arrived there two days before Cortes. Diaz 
had visited this island twice before, and probably was 
sent on that account. They marched into the island, 
and took two Indians and an Indian woman prisoners, 
and sacked some houses and a temple. When Cortes 
came he was furious, and blamed Alvarado, telling him 
that was not the way to pacify the land. " Pacify " was 
a Spanish euphuism of those days for what the French 
now term "pacific penetration." It meant taking other 
people's land without fighting, and then as now was a 
disastrous failure, and then as now always finished up 
with blood. 

The idea was good enough, but never worked in 
practice ; for after all who would not rather meet a pirate 
with the skull and crossbones flying boldly in the air than 
the same pirate with a Bible at the peak ? One of the 
two tamed Indians, Melchorejo (for Julianillo was already 
civilised to death), was set to make a speech to the 
inhabitants of Cozumel. The captives were released, 
the spoil returned, and the civilising beads and hawkbells, 
with a " Castilian shirt " apiece, dealt out to everybody. 
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Cortes seems to have been genuinely determined to 
act kindly ; but subsequent events were too strong for 
him. Diaz says, here " Corte*s began to command 
properly, and our Lord gave him His grace in everything 
he did, especially in pacifying the people of these parts, 
as will appear anon." What Bernal Diaz really thought, 
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is difficult to say, or if he thought at all about the matter, 
but only wrote from recollection of things long past, 
without connecting them with subsequent events. 

After describing the review of all the ships, the 
horses, and the men that Cone's held in Cozumel, Diaz 
remarks, " I don't know why I waste so much good 
ink in writing of reviews." One wishes that more 
historians had written of such things instead of what 
they probably considered "serious matters," matters 
which, like "serious men," are often really without any 
weight. 

Certainly Bernal Diaz was becoming a person of 
some importance in the expedition, chiefly on account 
of his two previous voyages. He tells with pride that 
Cortes summoned him and a certain Biscayan, Martin 
Ramos, and asked them what they thought the words 
"Castilan, Castilan," that they had heard in the 
Campeche coast, when they came with Francisco 
Hernandez de Cordoba, could possibly import. 

Corte*s, it seems, as was but natural, had thought the 
words meant that the Indians had seen Spaniards on 
that coast. To this Diaz agreed, and after consultation 
with the caciques of Cozumel it proved to be the case. 
Messengers were sent, and returned with the news that 
two Spaniards were captives with a certain chief. A 
letter was dispatched to them, that began " Gentlemen 
3 

' 
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and Brothers," and must have come as a surprise to both 
the prisoners. One of the captives, Geronimo de Aguilar, 
went at once to the Chief with whom he was, and 
tendered the money that Corte*s had sent to ransom him. 
It was accepted, and he went at once to the village 
where his companion, one Gonzalo Guerrero, was 
detained. He, however, would not join him, saying he 
was a chief and married, and moreover was tattooed and 
had his ears bored. 

" What will the Spaniards say," he said, " when they 
see me in such a state ? Also, I have three sons, and 
look what pretty boys they are." 

Aguilar, like the good Catholic he was, was scan‐ 
dalised, and told him not to forget he was a Christian, 
and not to lose his soul for a mere Indian woman ; and 
if he loved his sons, to take them and come along with 
him. For all he said, Guerrero would not listen to him, 
either because he loved his wife, or on account of his 
scarred face. " Now," says Bernal Diaz, " this Guerrero 
was a sailorman and came from Palos." Perhaps this, in 
some measure, may explain the matter, for it appears 
Guerrero had got to a safe port. 



2/17/2015 https://ia700504.us.archive.org/15/items/bernaldiazdelcas00cunnuoft/bernaldiazdelcas00cunnuoft_djvu.txt

data:text/html;charset=utf­8,%3Cpre%20style%3D%22color%3A%20rgb(0%2C%200%2C%200)%3B%20font­style%3A%20normal%3B%20font­variant%… 29/171

Aguilar turned out of immense value to Cortds, for 
he could speak the Indian tongue. Nothing is more 
curious than the mental attitude of Spaniards of those 
times. Before they left the island (Cozumel), an Indian 
priest, standing upon an adoratorio, which we may 
translate " joss‐house," dressed in black trailing robes, 
addressed the conquerors. 

" We and Cortes stood listening to that black sermon 
and wondering what it meant." Melchorejo, one of the 
captive Indians, explained that the old priest was cursing 
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them. Corte*s, who never lost a chance of this kind, 
instantly answered him in a long, pious disquisition on 
the faith, enjoining him to overturn his idols and 
come into the fold. He also (Diaz says) said many good 
and holy things to them, and told them to set up a 
cross, promising to help them in the work. As a sort 
of sweetener, he said the cross would bring them good 
harvests as well as save their souls. 

This is the first time that I have ever read that the 
cross was to be of material good to anyone, for gener‐ 
ally lay preachers like Corte*s insist upon its spiritual 
benefits, and hence perhapslis the true reason of the lack 
of enthusiasm their preaching generally evokes. 

The priest and the caciques answered their fathers 
had adored the idols, and that they could not throw 
them down. However, if the Spaniards liked to do so, 
they could take the risk of it. Instantly the false gods 
were knocked down the steps, an altar built, a cross set 
above it, and the conversion was completed. The 
chapter finishes without a comment, and in the next 
Diaz gives one of those bits of information that seemed 
no doubt superfluous at the time, but which to‐day is 
priceless as a bit of local colouring. 

When the fleet sailed, he says, Corte*s commanded 
the flagship ; Pedro de Alvarado and his brothers, a 
good ship called the San Sebastian. Alonso Hernandez 
Puertocarrero another ship, Francisco de Montejo, 
"another one, and good." Christobal de OH another, 
and so on, naming every captain of the fleet. The 
smallest was a brigantine, and had for captain one 
Gines Nortes. 

Each vessel had a pilot and orders how to sail and 

f 
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to keep stations, and at night the signalling was done 
with lanterns. " So we sailed after impressing on the 
caciques and the priest to reverence an image of the 
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Blessed Virgin that we had given them, and to take 
good care of the cross." 

Bernal Diaz gives us no indication what he thought 
about these idol‐breakings, though as time went on, and 
he began most probably to take himself more seriously, 
he too begins to preach and think that he had somehow 
or other benefited the Indians by all that he had done. 
However, he offends but little in that way ; and if he 
did so, all would have to be forgiven for the traits of 
manners and of men he has preserved for us. 

When Aguilar, the captive, learned where the fleet 
was, with the beads sent to him by Corte*s he hired a 
canoe and six stout paddlers, and crossed to Cozumel. 
When the Indians saw so many Spaniards and their 
ships, a panic seized them, and they rushed back to 
their canoe. A Spaniard, one Andres de Tapia, who 
happened to be there, stopped them and sent a messenger 
to Corte's telling him seven Indians had arrived and 
wished to speak to him. As they sat waiting, one of 
the Indians came to Tapia, and in "a Spanish, mumbled 
and badly chewed, said, ' God and the Blessed Virgin, 
and Seville,' and then going to Tapia embraced 
him." 

This man was Aguilar, for "he was neither more 
nor less than a mere Indian." As they walked on to‐ 
wards the General's tent some Spaniards asked the 
pseudo‐ Indian, "Where is the Spaniard?" This they 
did for Aguilar was dark of colour, wore his hair shaven 
like an Indian slave, and had a paddle on his shoulder. 
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On one foot he had a sandal, the other he carried in 
his girdle. His clothes were an old, rotten blanket and 
a worse pair of drawers, and in a packet tied in a corner 
of the blanket an old book of Hours, for he had been in 
minor orders studying for a priest. 

Corte"s, turning to Tapia, also said, " Where is the 
Spaniard ? " and Aguilar, who understood him, squatting 
down like an Indian on his hams, said, " I am he," and 
then Cortes ordered him clothes, a shirt and doublet, 
drawers and a hood, "for there were no more clothes 
to give him," and "asked him of his life." He said, 
though still with difficulty, that he was called Geronimo 
de Aguilar and that he came from Ecija, and for the 
last eight years had been a slave. 

It appeared that he had been aboard a ship going 
from Darien to Hispaniola, the ship had struck upon a 
rock, and he with others and two women had been cast 
upon the coast. Some had been sacrificed to idols, 
others had died, and he and Gonzalo Guerrero were 
the sole survivors of the ill‐fated crew. He told how 
Guerrero had become a chief, and had been tattooed 
and his ears and his lower lip slit. As he had fought 
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against the Spaniards when the expedition of Hernandez 
de Cordoba touched at Catoche, he feared to come 
amongst them, and had retired into the woods. 

The chiefs of Cozumel, when they heard Aguilar 
speak in their language, made much of him ; and he, like 
a true Spaniard of his times, told them to reverence and 
worship the image of the Blessed Virgin that Corte*s had 
given them. 

" We then," says Bernal Diaz, " embarked once more, 
for they had been driven back to Cozumel by a great 
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tempest, and set our sails towards the River of Grijalva. 
This was the way and in no other, that we found Aguilar, 
and not as Gomara relates it, a thing that does not in 
the least surprise me, for he had all his information 
second hand, and so let us return again to our relation 
of events." 

As Bernal Diaz sat in " the good town of Guatemala " 
almost fifty years after the wonderful adventure was 
ended, all that he saw and did must have come crowding 
back into his brain with that extraordinary wealth of 
detail and of memory that makes his book so interesting. 

When they embarked from Cozumel a tempest 
sprang up and almost drove them on the coast. 

"I remember," so he says, "that Aguilar told us 
that close to where we were was the town where he 
had been a prisoner, and not far off the other village 
where Guerrero, he of the tattooed face and cloven lip 
and ears, lived ; that there was a little gold to be got 
there, and he could guide us to the place. Cortds 
answered him laughing, and said it was not worth the 
trouble, for he had not come on the expedition for a 
little gold, but to serve God and the King. Much gold 
is fitting as an offering to God, and certainly pleasing to 
kings, and this no one knew better than Cortes. 

So they sailed on until they came to a place called 
Puerto de Terminos, and were rewarded by finding there 
a greyhound which Diaz remembered to have lost when 
he was on the second expedition with Grijalva. He 
tells us, when the greyhound saw the soldiers she 
bounded up to them, wagging her tail and fawning on 
them, and of her own accord jumped into the boat in 
which they had come ashore. Few historians but himself 
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would have had the sense to write about the finding of 
the hound, being consumed with the idea that to write 
seriously is to write only about what seems serious to 
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dull men. 

When they arrived at the Rio de Tabasco, which 
Bernal Diaz knew, from having been there with Grijalva, 
the conquest of Mexico may have been said to have 
begun. No one had yet been able to get a footing on 
the coast, and in the fights that followed Bernal Diaz 
took a considerable part. 

Almost for the first time in the New World, the 
Spaniards found themselves opposed by a fierce fighting 
race. Hardly had they disembarked before hostilities 
began. The Indians began at once to pour in flights 
of arrows, and in the struggle Cortes himself lost one 
of his alpargatas? which came off in the mud. 

" We were," says Diaz, " in great danger, until having 
all landed, and having raised our war‐cry of Saint James, 2 
we forced them back and entered the chief street along 
with them, though they contested all the ground most 
valiantly, yelling and whistling and calling out, 'Al 
Calchoni,' which in their language signifies 'The 
Captain,' meaning by that that they should shoot their 
arrows at Cortds." 

When the fight was done, Corte"s took possession of 
the country for His Majesty the King, drawing his 
sword and striking it thrice on a tree, called ceiba? that 
stood in the great square, and saying that if there was 

1 Alpargatas are canvas shoes with hemp soles. 

2 Santiago y cierra Espana. " St. James and close up for Spain," was 
the full cry. 

3 Bombax Ceiba. 
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anyone who shoufd contradict his right, he challenged 
him to single combat. No one having answered the 
bold act of piracy, a notary drew up a document to the 
effect the country now belonged to Spain. In modern 
days we should have simply built a whisky store with‐ 
out the formality of any document ; but in both cases 
the result would have been the same that is, as far as 
the mere " natives " were concerned. 

Diaz was wounded by an arrow in the thigh. The 
wound was slight, he says ; in fact, he never dwells upon 
his wounds, but takes them as things inseparable from 
daily life in fact, they were so in the life that he led 
under the banners of Cortes. After the battle they 
counted up the dead, and found sixteen Indian bodies 
in the water and on land. "There we slept with many 
patrols and scouts." 

In the morning when they went to call up Mel‐ 
chorejo, the converted Indian, they found that he had 
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slipped away into the woods. All that they found of 
him were his Castilian clothes, which he had left hang‐ 
ing upon a tree. Either the call of the wild had claimed 
him, or the Castilian clothes were irksome to him, as 
well might have been the case, when one remembers 
the old saying, " He who is not accustomed to wear 
breeches, is likely to be galled by their seams." Cortes 
was angry at his flight, for "he feared that he might tell 
the Indians things unprofitable" that is, to Cone's. 

"Let him go," says Diaz, "with bad luck, and we 
will come back to our tale." 

The Tabasco Indians, either having been informed 
by Melchorejo that the Spaniards were in small numbers, 
or because they really were more warlike than the other 
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tribes, attacked again with fury. "They commenced to 
shoot their arrows at us, so that we could hardly bear 
them, for the multitude of Indians was so great. They 
also flung spears hardened in the fire, and stones from 
slings that fell like hail about us, and they had long two‐ 
handed swords that cut like razors." 

However, discipline, armour, and better weapons 
prevailed, as they must always do, over mere patriotism, 
and the Indians were driven back. The Spaniards 
made three prisoners, and Aguilar (the interpreter) 
asked them why they were so mad as to come out 
arrayed in war against us. " Mad " was an adjective 
the Spaniards might have thought inapplicable if a 
detachment of Moors from Barbary had landed on their 
coasts and taken any of them prisoners when they were 
fighting to defend their lands. 

" Massacre," " mad," and " savage " only have signifi‐ 
cance when used of those who never had corns on 
their feet, wore grey tweed caps, or rode a bicycle. It 
appeared the Indians' madness was the result, just as 
Cortes expected, of the "unprofitable things" that 
Melchorejo told them, and that he had counselled them 
to attack the Spaniards every day as long as any of 
them still were left alive. 

The Spaniards saw " pacific penetration " was no good 
with the Tabasco River Indians, and so determined to 
make war upon them to the knife. The first thing that 
they did was to disembark the horses. Diaz, of course, 
has much to say about them, for all his life he loved a 
horse. They were so dull and stiff with the long con‐ 
finement on the ships that they could scarcely gallop, 
and they had to be let loose to graze. When they had 
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rested for a day "and eaten, they were all saddled and 
bells were hung upon their breastplates, to terrify the 
Indians when they charged. Another order that Corte*s 
gave to his troops, and which he hardly ever got them to 
remember, was to hold their lances high and riot to spear 
the Indians through the body, but in the faces or the head. 

Had they but followed his advice, many of them would 
have saved their lives in the battles that ensued. It 
used to happen that when they drove their lances 
through a man, as life is very strong in Indians, the man 
seized the lance with both his hands and gave his fellow 
time to rush in and kill both rider and the horse. Now the 
loss of a good horse was more important in those days 
than that of ten stout men. Right through his book 
Bernal Diaz refers to this, and always says that the new‐ 
comers were almost sure to lose their lives by disregard‐ 
ing the advice Corte*s gave to them about Indian fights. 
So all‐important were the horses that at this juncture he 
specially enumerates all those soldiers (only thirteen) fit 
to be entrusted with a horse. Pedro de Alvarado, 
Puertocarrero, Francisco de Montejo, and some others, 
were gentlemen and knights, and as they had their own 
horses, of course they were numbered in the list. 

Alonso de Avila was unprovided with a horse, so 
Cortes gave him the horse belonging to Ortiz el Musico 
and Bartolome Garcia, " for neither of the two could 
ride." Juan Velazquez de Leon and Francisco de 
Morla were also mounted. Also Lares el Buen Ginete. 1 
" I name him thus, for there was another Lares who also 
was a good man on a horse." Gonzalo Dominguez and 
Lares were splendid horsemen. 2 

1 Lares, the good rider. 2 Extremados hombres de d caballo. 
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Then came Moron el de Bayamo, 1 and Pedro 
Gonzalez, el de Truxillo. When all was ready, and after 
having heard Mass, the army drew out to an open plain 
not far from Cintla, and found the enemy arrayed. 

" Now," says Diaz, " I will tell what happened in 
that battle, for it could really be called a battle, and was 
terrible." 

1 El de Bayamo the man from Bayamo. This way of speaking of a 
man the Spaniards took from the Arabs. Amongst them a man's native 
place is always added to the name, as el Tangowi, the man from Tangier, 
el Zeiri, the man from Algiers, etc. 

CHAPTER III 

IT was terrible indeed, perhaps as terrible a fight as 
any of the innumerable battles that Bernal Diaz took 
part in, in his whole career. 
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The Indians of Tabasco were a warlike race, and 
some of them had even faced the Spaniards in a pitched 
battle ; but still the artillery and the horses must have 
seemed to them things supernatural. The description 
of the battle is amongst the most vivid of the numerous 
descriptions Diaz has left of fights. 

Although he has so often to describe combats with 
Indians, his memory was so keen that no two of his 
descriptions are alike, and every one contains some strik‐ 
ing phrase, some curious incident or individual action, 
either of Indians or Spaniards, such as could only have 
been recalled by an actual combatant. The following 
shows him at his best : 

" I have told in what array and manner we set out, 
and how we met all the companies and squadrons of our 
enemies which had come forth to meet us, and all of 
them were crowned with feathers and had drums and 
little trumpets, and their faces painted yellow and black 
and white, and all bore great bows and arrows, lances 
and shields and swords, like our two‐handed swords, 
and many slings and stones and throwing spears 
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hardened in the fire, and every man his jacket 
quilted with cotton. 1 So when they came up with us 
their squadrons were so large that they covered all the 
plain. They flew at us like hungry dogs, surrounding us 
on all sides, and threw so many darts and stones and 
shot so many arrows that at the first attack they wounded 
more than seventy of us, and with their lances, foot to 
foot with us, they did great damage to us, and a soldier 
was slain outright by an arrow that went into his ear 
this man was called Saldana. 

"We with our cannons and our guns and crossbows 
and with great sword‐strokes did not waste our time. 
Little by little as they experienced the way our swords 
cut, they drew off a bit ; but it was only so that they 
could shoot more safely at us, .because our chief artillery‐ 
man, a man called Mesa, slew many of them with his 
guns, as there were many of them, and as they did not 
separate at all, he killed as many as he liked. But for 
all that, and despite of all the carnage that we made, 
nothing could make them run. I said to Captain Diego 
de Ordas, ' I think we ought to charge and get to hand‐ 
strokes with them, to make them feel the edges of our 
swords/ 2 . . . Ordas answered me that this was not 
good counsel, for to each one of us there were three 
hundred Indians, and that we could not face so great a 
multitude ; but all the same, we went on facing them. 
Still we endeavoured to get close to them, to give them, 
as Ordas said, a bad time 8 with our swords." 

1 These jackets quilted with cotton could turn an arrow. The Spaniards 
themselves adopted them. 
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2 This kind of counsel Bernal Diaz frequently gave throughout his future 
life, for amongst wounds and blows he was in his element. 

3 Mai ano de estocadas. 
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This is the true spirit of all dealings with Indians ; 
at least from the first time a white man met an Indian, 
down to the civilisation of the Putomayo tribes, it has 
been the universal use. 

"I remember," Diaz says, "that when we fired the 
field‐pieces the Indians gave shrill whistles and loud 
yells, throwing both dust and straw into the air, so that 
we should not see the damage we had done them. . . . 
Being thus occupied, we saw our horsemen coming into 
action ; and as the big battalions (of the Indians) were so 
absorbed in fighting with us, they did not see them as 
they were coming from the rear ; and as the ground was 
flat, the riders all good horsemen, and some of the horses 
swift and well‐bitted, they had the opportunity to lance 
(the Indians) at their pleasure, a thing convenient at the 
time." 

" Convenient at the time" is a phrase hard to 
better, and one that does not show the least trace 
of hypocrisy. 

" The Indians thought the rider and the horse were 
the same body, as they had never seen a horse. After 
we had routed them ... we all dismounted under a 
group of trees, and gave great thanks and praises both 
to God and to His Blessed Mother, raising our hands to 
heaven for giving us the day. 

" Eight horses and five horsemen were wounded in 
this fight. As it was the day of Our Lady of March, 
we called the town, which afterwards was built there, 
Santa Maria de la Victoria, both because it was Our 
Lady's day and for the victory. This was the first fight 
that we had under Cortes in the New Spain. When the 
day was over, we bound our wounds up with any cloths 
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we had, for there was nothing else. The wounded 
horses we cured with grease from the dead Indians, 
and these were opened to get the grease from their 
insides. Then we went to see the dead . . . and 
found more than eight hundred . . . the most from 
sword wounds, and others killed by shots from the 
crossbows and field‐pieces, and many lying here and 
there half dead. 

" Where the horsemen had passed there were dead 
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lying thick, and others wounded and complaining of 
their wounds. This battle lasted but an hour, and, 
as I said, we could do little till the horsemen came. 
We took five Indians, two of them captains. As 
it was late and we were tired after the fight, and 
had not eaten, we went back to our camp. Then 
we buried two of our men who died, one of a 
throat wound, the other of a hurt, just in the ear. 
The other wounded men we cured with fire, 1 the 
horses, as I said, with Indians' grease. Then we 
put out patrols and guards, and then had supper and 
reposed." 

Few descriptions of a fight are truer than this 
of the obscure but sanguinary skirmish nearly four 
hundred years ago. There is no false atmosphere, 
and the account is in no wise coloured, and there is 
not an atom of the literary artifice by which in modern 
times men make the history of a fight so strangely 
different from what really happens in the field. Of 
course the narrator in this case was also a combatant 
himself, and nowadays such things are written from 

1 That is, by cauterisation, a practice that the Spaniards took (with many 
others) from the Moors. 
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the outside, rarely by soldiers or by men of action ; 
for special correspondents are not men of action, but 
men spurred to activity by others, which is a different 
thing. 

Diaz relates that they took grease from the dead 
Indians' bodies to cure their horses with, and says it 
naturally. He tells us nothing of how the Indians 
looked cut open with the flies buzzing round their 
intestines, or says that any of them moved, and that 
Fulano Sanchez, seeing they still lived, beat out their 
brains with the butt end of a crossbow, or with a 
heavy stone ; for Diaz was an artist in his way, and 
knew when to let things alone. Anything vital he 
relates with circumstance ; but things not vital and 
ideas which passed through his own mind he does 
not notice, and thus his picture is extraordinarily 
clear. 

After the description of the fight occurs the well‐ 
known passage as to the appearance of St. James. 
Prescott and others have so handled it, in such a 
leaden way, with such a spirit of stern Protestantism, 
and have so much mistaken the true character of 
Diaz, and for that matter the character of all the 
conquerors, 1 that to translate it all and leave it 
without comment seems the best way in which to 
make it plain : 

" Here is where Francisco Lopez de Gomara says " 
(Diaz begins) "that Francisco de Morla came out upon 
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a dappled grey before Cortes arrived with the 

1 The character of Diaz and that of so many of the Conquistadores and 
of Spaniards in general can best be expressed by the Scotch word " pawky," 
for Scots and Spaniards meet on many points. 
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horsemen, and they were the Holy Apostles, our 
Lords St. Peter and St. James. 1 

" I say that all our works and victories are through 
the hand of Our Lord Jesus Christ, and that in that 
battle there were so many Indians in comparison to 
us that they could have blinded us even by throwing 
earth at us, but that the great mercy of our Lord 
helped us in everything, and it may be that those of 
whom Gomara speaks were the glorious apostles 
St. Peter and St. James, and I as a sinner was not 
worthy to see it. What I saw then and knew was 
Francisco de Morla on a bay horse 2 who came up 
at the same time as Cortes, and it appears to me 
that now as I am writing, I see all the war with 
these eyes of a sinner, just as it was and just as 
everything occurred ; and although I as an unworthy 
sinner was not worthy to see either of those glorious 
apostles, that then in our army there were about 
four hundred soldiers, and Cone's and many other 
gentlemen to speak of it and witness and swear to 
it, and that a church would have been built when 
the town was founded, and that the town itself would 
have been called La Villa de Santiago de la Victoria, 
or of San Pedro de la Victoria, but that it was 
named Santa Maria de la Victoria ; and if it was 
as Gomara relates, we must have been bad Christians 
when Our Lord God sent us His holy Apostles not 
to have recognised the favour that He did us and 

1 This passage is, I think, corrupt, for from it it seems impossible to 
understand what Diaz means. Further on he makes himself clear enough. 

* In the beginning of the passage Diaz said that the horse Francisco de 
Morla rode was grey. In Spanish "bay" and "grey" are words quite 
different from one another, and have no similarity in sound. 
4 

, 
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not to reverence each day that church ; may it please 
God that it was just as the Chronicler relates, but 
till I read his Chronicle I never heard amongst the 
Conquerors that they heard a word about it." 

This little passage portrays the character of 
Bernal Diaz almost as perfectly as it could have been 
set down by someone else looking at him from the 
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outside. Perhaps it does so even more clearly, for 
it was written without the smallest outlook on the 
public, in just the spirit that he writes of everything 
he treats. 

The well‐known stratagem by which Corte*s caused 
the horse to neigh and paw the ground and let the 
Indians think he did so out of fury against them 
Diaz has preserved for us, and it is his preservation 
of such trifling circumstances that makes the history 
of the Conquest of New Spain ten times more 
interesting to read about than that of Peru or any 
other country in the New World. It happened just 
after the fight which he describes so graphically, and 
during the negotiations for a peace which followed on it. 

In these negotiations the Spaniards first heard the 
word Mexico, though they were ignorant of what it 
meant. It appears that as a peace‐offering the Indian 
chiefs brought twenty Indian girls and with them 
the daughter of a chief, who, as it happened, played 
a considerable part in the taking of Mexico. Diaz 
tells of the circumstance with such simplicity and in 
such good faith, without an atom of hypocrisy, that 
the whole affair appears quite different to such 
occurrences when, for example, they have fallen to 
the lot of our own countrymen. 
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After enumerating all the presents that the chiefs 
brought to the peace conference, he says: "All this 
was nothing in comparison with twenty women, and 
amongst them one very excellent woman, who was 
called Dona Marina after she was baptized." 

By the mouth 1 of Aguilar the interpreter, Cortds 
preached to the twenty Indian women. One sees 
him standing in his armour, a handsome figure with 
perhaps a discriminating eye for the points of the 
dusky catechumens as he discoursed upon our holy 
faith. The town, surrounded by its grove of palm 
trees, the wondering Indians, the expectant girls, the 
horses feeding fastened to their stake ropes or side‐ 
lined, so that they could not stray ; and lastly, the 
four hundred Spanish soldiers, sun‐burned, and with 
their wounds bound up in dirty rags, their armour 
rusted by the tropic rains all must have formed a 
background fitted to make the gospel truths go home. 
They did so, and the twenty Indian maidens were 
all baptized, the Cacique's daughter being called 
Dona Marina; and as regards the rest, even Bernal 
Diaz is obliged to say, " As I cannot remember all 
their names, it is not worth the trouble to write some 
of them." 

These were the first of all the Christian women 
in New Spain, he says with pride. So that the 
fledgling Christians might see at once that dogma 
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and the practice of the faith is as distinct as 
Liberalism is from Liberality, Cortes gave one of 
them to every captain. Diaz does not inform us 
how the soldiers fared. Dona Marina he assigned 
1 " For boca de ganso," as the Spanish saying has it. 

* 
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to Don Alonso Hernandez Puertocarrero, who was 
"a gallant gentleman and cousin to the Count of 
Medellin." 

When duty called this gentleman to Spain, Corte*s 
himself took Dona Marina into his household and had 
a son by her called Don Martin Cortes, who afterwards 
became a Commendador de Santiago. 

Whether for good or evil, that only time 

] will show, the Spaniards never have observed 

the colour‐line as have the Anglo ‐ Saxons, and 

thus, when the first fury of the Conquest had spent 

itself, their treatment of the Indians almost from 

' necessity was mild. 

Cortes, who had a most persuasive tongue, drew to 
himself the chiefs, and got them all to declare themselves 
vassals of Charles v., a thing no doubt not half so difficult 
for them to do as it had been to see their idols broken 
and thrown down. 

They were, as Diaz says, the first of all the natives 
of New Spain to swear allegiance to His Majesty. 
What the poor creatures thought that they were doing 
only Heaven knows! 

As they sailed down the coast, Diaz relates with 
pride, " We showed Cortes " this or that river, and 
such and such a cape ; for Diaz was proud of having 
been upon the coast in the two former expeditions, and 
gave himself, no doubt, considerable airs. 

When they arrived at Alvarado's River (El Rio de 
Alvarado), Puertocarrero came to Cone's, and, slightly 
altering the words of the old ballad, said to him : " Look 
at France, O Montesinos, look at the city of Paris, look 
at the waters of the Douro where they go out into the 
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sea. I say, look at these rich lands, and learn to govern 
them." 1 
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Cortes, who understood his meaning perfectly, and 
was an educated man, immediately rejoined : " May God 
give us as good fortune in our arms as had Roland ; 
and for the rest, with you and the other gentlemen I will 
do well enough." 

This curious little episode is worth remembering, for 
no doubt it strengthened the ambition of Cortes to free 
himself from the control of those who sent him out. 
Diaz remarks it fully ; and though he was a partisan 
through thick and thin of his great leader in nearly all 
the actions of his life, this never blinds him to his moral 
faults. In fact, Diaz was obliged to stick to Corte*s 
blindly, as only by so doing had he a chance of fortune, 
for all the followers of Velazquez seem to have been his 
enemies. 

After this little excursion into Spanish ballads Diaz 
sits down to tell the world about Dona Marina, the 
Indian chieftainess. He says : " Before I take in hand 
to tell of Montezuma, I will tell all I know about Dona 
Marina, and how from her childhood she was the 
mistress both of vassals and of towns. Her father and 
her mother were caciques of a town called Painala. 
Her father died when she was young, and then her 
mother married a young chief." This wicked pair, quite 
in the manner of the brethren of Joseph, gave away the 
child, and said that she was dead ; but she grew up (as 
always happens in such cases) a perfect paragon. 

1 " Cata Francia Montesinos, cata Paris la ciudad, cata las aguas de 
Duero, do van a dar a la mar. Yo digo que mireis las tierras ricas y sabeos 
bien gobernar." 
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Now turned a Christian and living with Puertocarrero, 
she did good service as interpreter. Then when he 
went to Spain she had a son by Cortes, and last of all 
married (in Latin, 1 as the saying is) one Juan Xaramillo, 
a gentleman. As she knew Mexican, she translated it 
into Tabascan, which Aguilar spoke well, and he again 
translated into Spanish for Cortes. Thus it took two 
interpreters before the Spaniards could understand the 
Mexicans that Montezuma sent. 

Diaz says though Marina was a good wife to Xara‐ 
millo, it was her pride to serve Cortes in all things, 
and he declares she was, under God's will, an instrument 
towards the conquest of the land. The name Malinche, 
which the Mexicans applied to Cortes, was the Indian 
form of Dona Marina's name, and in thus speaking 
they referred to him as Malinche's husband, or her man. 
So in North Africa a European with a name hard to 
pronounce by Arabs is often known as the friend of so‐ 
and‐so. 

On Holy Thursday of the Supper of Our Lord in 
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the year 1519, Diaz first heard of Montezuma and of 
Mexico. Diaz seems not to have been an officer at this 
time, for he says, " Between the soldiers we carried wood 
to make huts for the captains and for Cortes." Still his 
experience in the two former voyages he had made must 
have given him some consideration amongst his fellow‐ 
soldiers, and no doubt Cortds was often glad to consult 
him and to take his advice. Only Bernal Diaz could have 
written down with so much circumstance and yet so 
simply, the sort of military display that Cortds gave the 

1 Casarse en Latin to be married in a church, as the service is in 
Latin. 
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officers of Montezuma. We see it all, put in his homely 
language, as clearly as we see the battles before Troy. 
Pedro de Alvarado on his chestnut mare (Diaz does not 
neglect to say she was well bitted) led the cavalry in 
a mimic charge. The cannons all were fired, and as 
it was a quiet day, " we could all follow how the balls 
went singing through the woods." This he relates in 
all simplicity, but at the same time does not forget to 
tell us that Montezuma's messengers made pictures of 
the scene, so that their master should see the cannons 
and the horses for himself. 

It appears that in the army differences of rank were 
kept up pretty strictly, for whilst Cortes and all his 
captains feasted on the chickens, bread, and fruit the 
Indians brought them, the mere soldiers (Diaz was 
of the number, for he speaks in the plural) had to go 
fishing or to collect the shellfish on the beach for 
rations, or else to go without. One of the Indian chiefs 
from Mexico, it appears, was very like Cortes. The 
soldiers gave him the nickname of Cortes, and Diaz 
says it was amusing to hear him called so by all the 
soldiers in the camp. 

The long delays and goings to and fro between the 
ambassadors of Montezuma and Cortes Diaz passes 
over rapidly, only saying, by the way, that the Indians 
soon tired of bringing in provisions, and all the army 
had to go fishing and collecting shellfish on the 
beach, even the officers. 

As usual when there was nothing else to do, Cortes 
began to preach to the Indians upon the mysteries of 
the faith. In fact, this time he seems to have surpassed 
himself, for Diaz says that when an Indian asked why 

9 
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the Spaniards knelt before a stick (meaning the Cross), 
Corte"s held forth upon the Christian religion in a way 



2/17/2015 https://ia700504.us.archive.org/15/items/bernaldiazdelcas00cunnuoft/bernaldiazdelcas00cunnuoft_djvu.txt

data:text/html;charset=utf­8,%3Cpre%20style%3D%22color%3A%20rgb(0%2C%200%2C%200)%3B%20font­style%3A%20normal%3B%20font­variant%… 43/171

few theologians could have equalled, and fewer still 
excelled. 

Such gifts are not the heritage of every general, and 
possibly have never been recorded of any other soldier 
with the exception of the Lord Protector, who certainly 
had a fine gift of prayer. The sermon had for its chief 
point, in addition to the explanation of the dogmas of 
the faith, an exhortation to destroy the idols, and in par‐ 
ticular that of Huichilobos, the God of War, in whose 
honour both youths and maidens were slaughtered every 
day. 

Diaz, as it happened, was on outpost duty on some 
sand‐hills with others of his friends. Along the edge 
of these low sand‐hills they saw three Indians coming 
up between them and the beach. These Indians met 
them with their faces wreathed in smiles, an unusual 
experience at the time. They asked to be led up to 
the encampment, and Diaz, telling his fellow‐soldiers 
to remain, offered to take them there himself. He says 
a little sadly, but still with the pride of a man who 
once had been an athlete, 1 " In those days my feet did not 
weigh quite as heavy as they do now that I am old." 

He led the Indians to Corte*s, and after an examina‐ 
tion of them through the two interpreters, Cortes found 
out for the first time that Montezuma had his enemies. 
This naturally made him more anxious than before, to 
go to Mexico. 

The Indian envoys had great holes bored in their lips, 

1 He was renowned as a good runner and as a tireless man upon the 
march. 
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and in the holes were set, as it were, round stone discs of 
a blue colour, though some of them wore ornaments 1 
of gold. They also wore the same discs in their ears, 
and all their dresses and accoutrements differed entirely 
from those of the men sent by Montezuma ; they also 
differed in their speech. 

By this time the Spaniards were in a bad way. The 
Indians did not bring them any food, and that which 
they had brought from Cuba with them was nearly 
finished, and what remained was sour and worm‐eaten. 
Thirty or forty soldiers had been killed or died of wounds 
they had received, and the followers of Velazquez, most 
of whom were men of property, were dying to return. 
Besides, as Montezuma had sent rich presents, amongst 
which figured a sun made of gold and a great silver 
moon, they said, with a fine show of reason, that it was 
time to go to Cuba and show Velazquez the treasure 
they had found. 

Diaz shows plainly that his sympathies were with 
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his general, for he applauds the attitude he took, which 
was that it would be a weak thing to return to Cuba and 
not see Mexico. 

In the election of Corte's as Captain‐General and 
Chief Judge of the newly conquered land, Bernal Diaz 
seems to have played a not inconsiderable part. His 
description of the actual ceremony is in his best vein : 
" This, Corte's accepted, though he made us beg him to 
accept : as the proverb says, ' You ask me, but I am 
willing all the time.' The worst of the whole business 
was (he says) that we gave him (Corte's) the fifth part of 

1 These lip discs were what we know in South America as " Bodoques," 
and are, I think, peculiar to the Indian tribes of that continent. 
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the gold which was remaining after having taken out 
the Royal fifth." 

It is interesting to read that when the town of Vera 
Cruz was first laid out, a whipping‐post was set up 
in the plaza, and a sufficient gallows just outside the 
town. These outward visible signs of civilisation must 
have seemed poor enough to Indians who sacrificed 
victims to their gods wholesale ; but still they were 
enough to give that touch as of a common nature that 
no doubt made them feel akin to those who conquered 
them. It is at this juncture that Bernal Diaz first tells 
us anything about Gonzalo de Sandoval. This captain, 
the owner of the good horse Motilla, was then quite a 
young man, and Diaz says, on account of his youth, he 
was not so much considered at the time, but subsequently 
became second to Cortes alone, and that the Emperor 
(Charles v.) himself knew all about him and his 
deeds. 

After Cortes had been raised to the governorship, 
and Pedro de Alvarado sent into the country to explore 
and bring back provisions (for in the camp the soldiers 
passed extremity of hunger), Diaz was one of those who 
remained to guard Cortes from any attack that might 
be made on him from the discontented faction that still 
wished to return to Cuba and not push farther on into 
the land. 

This was most natural, for amongst these men were 
many kinsmen of Velazquez, and moreover, many of 
them were rich. The immediate followers of Cortes 
were generally poor, and amongst these Diaz was one 
of the poorest, and therefore willing to set his life on 
any chance, to end or better it. Adventures were his 
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daily bread, for travelling, as he says, " coastwise along 
the coast," they killed a great fish, and no doubt feasted 
on it. 

When the fleet arrived at the entrance to a river 
(where, as he says, now stands the town of Vera Cruz), 
it was in flood. The soldiers crossed it in some canoes 
they found, "and I swam over by myself." 

The army marched to the town of Cempoal, of which 
place the Cacique was so fat and heavy that he could 
not advance to welcome them. Diaz relates that some 
scouts they had sent out, returned to say the town had 
walls of silver, which so impressed them that they sent 
a man full speed back to the camp to tell Corte*s. It 
turned out afterwards that the walls were made of fine 
white plaster that glittered in the sun. 

Diaz remarks, "We laughed consumedly, both at 
their madness and their silver," and he goes on to say 
that from that day it was a saying with the soldiers that 
all that looked a little white seemed silver to the scout. 
After the " Cacique Gordo " (for that was the name the 
soldiers gave the chief) had received Cortds and feasted 
all the soldiers upon maize‐bread and plums, Corte*s 
made them an after‐dinner speech. 

This time he did not touch upon religious matters ; 
but quite in Don Quixote's vein announced that the 
Emperor had sent him to undo wrongs and punish evil‐ 
doers. El Cacique Gordo, seeing his chance, imme‐ 
diately began to complain of Montezuma, and Corte*s, 
having listened carefully, assured him of his distinguished 
consideration and offered him his aid. The Chief was 
quite delighted, and Diaz tells without a smile that he 
sent four hundred carriers to carry all the baggage of 
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the host. " Before this/' Bernal Diaz says, "we had to 
carry our own knapsacks and everything we had." 

Thus was the alliance made between the Spaniards 
and the men of Cempoal which gave them that town for 
a base, and in the long‐run brought Montezuma's empire 
to the ground. 

CHAPTER IV 

THE Spaniards now had got a footing in the land, and 
at once set out for the interior. 

Diaz, always upon the look‐out as it were instinc‐ 
tively for details of a homely kind, tells us how Captain 
Alonso de Avila, 1 being a proud and an ill‐natured man, 
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seeing a soldier, Hernando Alonso de Villanueva, march‐ 
ing out of array, gave him a lance thrust in the arm 
which left him lame for life. Diaz does not comment 
specially upon this captain's brutality, but informs us 
that thereafter the poor soldier received the nickname 
of " Manquedio," and then says, " People will say that I 
am always getting out of line by telling these old tales." 
Still, one is glad he is so often out of line, and that there 
is no Alonso de Avila to prick him with his lance ; for 
his old tales are sidelights upon men and manners of 
those times, and give an insight into the daily life of a 
Spanish regiment on the march better than pages about 
tactics or on strategy. 

When the army got to a town called Quiavistlan, 
they found there a cacique of such monstrous bulk that 
Diaz never mentions him but as " El Cacique Gordo," 
and tells us he was carried in a litter, being too fat to 
walk. This chief complained so bitterly of Montezuma 
and his tyranny " that Cone's and all of us almost 

1 " Era soberbio y de mala condition." 
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began to weep." Diaz, of course, may have been really 
moved, being as he was a simple‐minded man ; but the 
tears of Cortes cannot have taken very many handker‐ 
chiefs to dry them up, for the Chiefs lamentations were 
his opportunity. 

All turned out luckily, for Cortes. During the inter‐ 
view news was brought to El Cacique Gordo that five 
of Montezuma's tax‐gatherers had just arrived, and 
wished to speak to him. These tax‐gatherers asked 
for twenty Indians to sacrifice to their god Huichilobos, 
a deity whom Diaz never mentions but with horror and 
disgust, having seen so many of his fellow‐soldiers 
dragged off for sacrifice, and himself having escaped the 
same fate by a miracle. 

Cortes ordered the Indians to seize and throw these 
tax‐gatherers into prison. This was an undertaking 
that the Indians of the fat chief looked on as sacrilege. 
However, they were forcedfto do it. 

The Indians answered that the Spaniards were 
"Teules," a word Diaz explains as "gods," but adds, 
a little dubiously, "or devils," 1 which seems to show 
that in all theologies men have always been inclined to 
hedge. 

The die being now cast, the fat Cacique entered 
into an alliance with Cortes against Montezuma. It is 
difficult to divine what Diaz thought of the position as 
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a whole. Probably he, after the fashion of many men, 
strong conservatives at home, thought himself a born 
reformer abroad. 

The description of the building of the town of Vera 
Cruz is in the writer's most graphic vein. "After we 
1 " Nos llamaron Teules, que es como he dicho, Dioses 6 Demonios." 
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had made the alliance," he says, " we thought fit to build 
a town. Cortds began himself, the first to carry earth 
on his shoulders, and stone, and to dig foundations with 
all his captains and his soldiers . . . and we kept at it 
continually so as to finish quickly, some working at the 
foundations, others at the walls, others in bringing 
water, others at the limekilns, making bricks and tiles ; 
some going out to search for provisions, others for 
wood ; the smiths set about making nails, for we had 
smiths amongst us ; and in this manner we worked on 
without once stopping from the first to the last." 

It must have been a wonderful and a primitive scene 
to see the Spanish soldiers, headed by their leader, all 
working against time, somewhat in the style of those 
who built the Tower of Babel. Situated as the 
Spaniards were, cut off from any help, and in the 
middle of a thickly populated land, their chance of 
success must have appeared almost as remote as that of 
those who raised the Tower. 

Diaz, who records everything that he recollected 
(and his memory never was at fault), says that when the 
town was finished Corte*s lost his horse, and that he 
bought, "or they gave him another, called ' El Arriero.' ' 

This horse was "a dark chestnut, and had belonged 
to Ortiz the musician, and one Bartolome* Garcia el 
Minero, 1 and was one of the best horses in the host." 

All the book is a gallery of descriptions of soldiers 
and of people Diaz had known during the Conquest. 
The resolve of Cone's to send a soldier with the forces 
of the fat Cacique against the Culua Indians gives him 

1 " Un Bartolom^ Garcia el Minero." Diaz remembered even to the 
man's nickname. Garcia had probably been a miner. 
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a good chance. The man chosen by Cortes was one 
Heredia, an old man, and a native of Biscay, and had 
a fierce look. " His beard was long, and he had several 
scars upon his face ; only one eye, and rather lame of a 
leg, and was a musketeer." 
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No one but Diaz would have set such little details 
down. The only historian of the Conquest of the 
Indians who in the least approaches him is the Inca 
Garcilasso de la Vega, and he, being a man of education, 
does not sow details quite so plentifully throughout his 
narrative. 

The instructions that Cortes gave to this Biscayan 
of the fierce face and the lame leg were curious enough, 
and luckily Diaz was there to treasure them up and to 
preserve them for us. He said : " Go with these chiefs 
to the river, and when you have arrived, make as if you 
wished to stop to drink and wash your hands, then fire 
a shot out of your gun, and I will send for you ; and this 
I do that they may think we are gods . . . and as you 
are so ugly, they will take you for an idol." 

This implies that Cortes, amongst his other qualities, 
had the gift of humour. It is a pity that it did not 
stop him preaching so much, both in and out of 
season. 

Diaz goes on to say : " Heredia did as he was told, 
for he was a man who had been a soldier in Italy. . . . 
I write this down as something laughable, and that it 
may be seen what tricks Cone's had at command." All 
through his history Diaz never fails to show himself 
impressed with the quickness of wit shown by his 
general. His bravery he seems to have taken as a 
matter of course, but his diplomacy as something quite 
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out of the ordinary way. Perhaps he did so because 
courage was common to all the conquerors ; but as 
the Castilian mind usually works rather slowly, 
his general's quick southern wit seemed something 
wonderful. 

It is curious also to observe how much influenced 
he was by every action of CorteY, for when he tells 
how Cortes had to force the friendly Indians to give 
up their plunder (for above all things it was necessary 
at that time that the Spaniards should be held as just 
men by their allies), he touches on the story of a Spanish 
soldier who had stolen two fowls. 

This man, one 1 Mora of Ciudad‐Rodrigo, was caught 
by Cortds himself, who straightway calling for a rope, 
had him strung up. He would have died had not Pedro 
de Alvarado cut the rope with his sword and let the 
poor man fall, half choked. 

" I have allowed myself to notice this," says Diaz, 
"to show my careful readers 2 in what an exemplary 
way Cone's proceeded on this occasion. . . . This soldier 
died afterwards in a war in the province of Guatimala 3 
. . . but let us go back to our tale." He does not 
comment adversely upon his general's severity, possibly 
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because to him life was of less account than property ; 
though afterwards, when he thought Cone's took an 
undue share of Montezuma's treasure for himself, he 
blames him strongly. Diaz was above all things, in 
his quality of a Castilian, a man of discipline, and all 
offences against military law were to him sins against 

1 Fulano (So‐and‐so) Mora de Ciudad‐Rodrigo. 

2 Curiosos lectores. 

8 Diaz usually spells Guatemala Guatimala. 
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the Holy Ghost. On no occasion does he ever let his 
pen run away with his judgment that is, knowingly 
as is to be seen in the last sentences of the chapter in 
which he tells the episode of Mora and the fowls. 

" This expedition of Cingapacinga was the first that 
Cortds undertook in New Spain, and it was very profit‐ 
able, and not, as the chronicler Gomara says, alleging 
that we killed and took and utterly destroyed thousands 
of people. Let, therefore, the careful reader who 
reads this . . . not be taken in by G6mara's good 
style." 

This matter of "good style," a thing of small 
account when all is said and done, was ever in his mind, 
for he had no idea that the first essential of a good 
stylist is to be natural, and that his own style had a 
peculiar charm in its simplicity. 

Just at this time occurred the first movement against 
the authority of Corte"s. This eventually caused his 
disgrace after so many episodes in which his enemies 
put forth all the accustomed wiles and treacheries that 
mediocre men have in all times availed themselves of 
to destroy the great. 

All appeared to be going well. Eight Indian girls 
had just been received into the Christian Church. One 
of them, the niece of the fat cacique, who was very ugly, 
was led up by the hand and given to Cortes. Diaz 
says that Cortes received her favourably, 1 and we know 
that he was a good diplomatist. Still the man who, as 
Diaz says, was in his youth "a devil amongst the 
women," 2 was married to a handsome wife, and had 

1 Con buen semblante. 

2 So I take leave to translate algo travieso sobremujeres. 
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much experience in matters feminine, must have made 
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what is called in Spanish "the rabbit's laugh" 1 when he 
received the ugly Indian's hand. 

Let us pass from this, as Diaz might have said. 
The next to receive the saving waters was the daughter 
of a chief, and she was given the name of Dona 
Francisca, and was "very pretty for an Indian." Corte's 
gave her to Alonso Hernandez Puertocarrero, who 
already had another mistress, Dona Marina. " Of the 
other six," says Diaz, " I cannot recall the names, but I 
know that Corte's gave them out to the soldiers." It 
seems a little strange that Corte's and the other 
conquerers should have been so earnest on the subject 
of the Christian faith, and should have done so little in 
their own persons to show the Indians how a Christian 
ought to live. 

These damsels having been made inheritors of the 
kingdom of heaven before they were shared amongst 
the soldiers, all seemed as merry as a marriage bell. 
However, the partisans of Velazquez were always ready 
to stir up strife. On their part it was natural enough 
that they should wish to return home to Cuba, as they 
had joined the expedition partly under false pretences, 
and most of them were men of property. 

Bernal Diaz supported Corte's through thick and 
thin, in his desire to see the adventure through and 
push on instantly to Mexico. 

" The most of us," he says, " said to Corte's, before 
starting for Mexico, that we should send and kiss His 
Majesty's 2 feet and tell him everything that had occurred 
since we set out from Cuba." They also agreed to send 

1 La risa del conejo. 2 The Emperor Charles v. 
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the Emperor all the gold that Montezuma had sent them 
by the hands of his ambassadors. 

Diaz records with pride that he was one of those 
who signed the document that Cone's and all his soldiers 
sent to the Emperor by the hands of Puertocarrero and 
Francisco de Montejo, setting forth all that they had 
done. 

Though Diaz speaks with pride of the terms in the 
letter, commending amongst other things in it the praise 
of Dona Marina, whom he refers to as a chief, "and 
for an Indian a person of much value," 1 he does not 
omit to criticise Cortds most roundly once or twice. 

In the letter he says they asked that the Emperor 
would graciously give the governorship to Cortes, "and 
we praised him so much, for a loyal servant, that we 
almost put him in the clouds." 2 
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Diaz, however, speaks without book on this occasion, 
for he expressly said " we " (that is, the soldiers) " never 
saw the letter." He continues : " As we understood, he 
made no mention in his letter either of Hernandez de 
Cordova or of Grijalva, but attributed to himself alone 
the honour and glory of it all." This was the kind of 
thing that excited Denial's ire, for he seems to have 
been a true Castilian of his time in regard to glory. He 
cheerfully endured short commons and hard blows, 
illness and wounds, even being defrauded of his due 
share of the plunder ; but touch what he considered the 
honour due to him, and he was up in arms. These are 
the occasions when he really criticises Cortes almost 

1 Una caries para India de mucho ser. 

2 Hastaponello en las nubes. To put this phrase into modern English 
would entirely destroy its picturesqueness, so I translate it word for word. 
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with acrimony, though it does not last long ; his natural 
good‐humour and his admiration for his chief soon 
get the upper hand. For all that, he is justly indignant 
when he recounts the unjust treatment that the envoys 
received at the hands of Fonseca, Bishop of Burgos and 
President of the Council of the Indies at the time. 

It seems as incredible to us as it seemed to Bernal 
Diaz that the envoys of a man such as was Cortes, 
coming to give an empire to Charles v. far larger than 
the territories he then ruled over, should have been 
received with contumely. Fonseca was not a man such 
as the Spaniards say "is only fit for God," but on the 
contrary a statesman, ambitious, though short‐sighted, as 
seems to be the fate of statesmen in every state through‐ 
out the history of the world. 

The Governor of Cuba was of course one of his 
creatures, and possibly the natural repulsion that 
mediocrity feels towards genius stopped the good Bishop 
from appreciating Cone's and all that he had done. 
However, Charles v., although he too in after times was 
jealous of the military renown of his great subject, 
yet was not so foolish when at last he heard the news, as 
not to welcome both the messengers. 

Diaz says : "God willed it that His Majesty should 
know ; and when he saw and heard, so great was the joy 
he showed that Dukes, Marquesses, Counts, and other 
gentlemen who were at his Royal Court, for several 
days did nothing but talk about Cone's and about all of 
us who had helped him in his Conquests and sent them 
such riches home." 

Bernal, who was as simple as a child, and though 
impossible to drive (as are most Spaniards) might have 
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< 
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been led all round the world upon a thread of silk, shows 
himself greatly delighted at what happened at the Court. 
No conqueror of the New World, with the possible 
exception (and even that remains unproved) of Gonzalo 
Pizarro, ever seems to have thought of treason to his 
lord. Nothing would have been easier for Cortes than 
to have made himself the King of Mexico. 

His followers all had confidence in his great powers. 
The native Mexicans almost feared him as a god, and 
men such as were Bernal Diaz, Puertocarrero, Sandoval, 
and Alvarado, might have been attached to him by 
gifts of great estates and have been the pillars of his 
throne. 

Nothing was further from his mind, and in spite of 
the bad treatment he received from men far his inferior 
in every way, his loyalty remained unwavering to the 
end. 

Throughout the Conquest Corte*s had to face treason 
from his own men. The leaven of the followers of 
Velazquez always fermented and several times broke 
out. It is clear from Bernal Diaz that there was a 
party in his army who looked upon the march to Mexico 
as madness and was pining to go home. Just at this 
juncture, on the eve of marching, some sailors plotted 
to steal a ship. At the last moment one of them con‐ 
fessed, and Cortds found himself obliged to strike a 
blow, or all his expedition would have failed. 

He struck to such good purpose that Bernal Diaz 
leaves us in doubt whether he approved of it or not. 
Pedro Escudero and Juan Cermeno were sentenced to 
be hanged, and the pilot Gonzalo de Umbria to have 
his toes cut off. Each sailor had two hundred lashes 
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in the good old style, and Father Juan Diaz, if he had 
not been a priest, would have been flogged too, but 
he got off with a fright. 

" I remember," says Bernal, " that when Corte*s signed 
that sentence, he said with a deep sigh, ' Who would 
not like not to be able to write, so that he could not sign 
the death‐warrant of a man ? ' ' 

This was a little too much even for his faithful 
follower, for he observes as pawkily as if he had been 
born a Scot : "It appears to me that this saying is 
common to all judges who sentence men to death." 
He adds, in a way that sets one wondering what he 
really thought about it all, " They took it (the custom) 
from that cruel Nero who in his youth had given signs 
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of a good emperor." 

As soon as the sentence was executed, Cortds threw 
himself on his horse and set off to Cempoal, d mata 
caballo that is, at a break‐neck speed ; for he must have 
been aware that in immediate action lay his only chance 
of escaping much discontent at his severity amongst 
his soldiers. Bernal Diaz held that it is best to prepare 
a bridge for a flying enemy, and always opposed punish‐ 
ing those who wished to return to Cuba and their 
homes. 

Had he been listened to, Corte*s would have been saved 
many troubles and much severity during his subsequent 
career. When he relates the historic scuttling of the 
ships, Diaz says in his simple way, " We counselled him 
that he should leave no ship in any port, but scuttle 
all of them." Then innocently enough he adds: "As 
I saw and understood, this counsel to scuttle all the 
ships which we proposed to him, Cortds himself had 
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already determined on, but he wished it to appear to 
come from us." 

Then his usual penetration leaves him, for he says : 
" This he did so that if anyone should have asked for 
payment of the ships, that as it was done under our 
advice we all should have to pay." 

This is so unlike the character of Corte"s that it 
would seem Diaz was but repeating some gossip of 
the camp. In no part of his history does he show 
himself more indignant with the arm‐chair historians 
of the Conquest than in this matter of the scuttling 
of the ships. " Here," he says, "is where Gomara says 
that Cortds gave the order for the scuttling of the ships," 
and he says that Cortes never published to the soldiers 
that he was going to seek the great Montezuma in 
Mexico. "What kind of people are we Spaniards," he 
indignantly asks, "and have we ever refused to go 
ahead?" In truth, no one can say the Spaniards ever 
hung back when fighting was to be done. 

All was now ready for the march on Mexico, and 
Cortes and his men were starting upon one of the 
greatest adventures in which a; general ever has 
embarked. Prince Charlie in the '45, or Xenophon 
when he assumed the command of the ten thousand 
Greeks, or Garibaldi when he set out from Genoa to 
conquer Italy with but a thousand men recruited from 
the four quarters of the world, alone have undertaken 
quests as dangerous. Whether Bernal really remembered 
the speech he puts into his leader's mouth upon the 
eventful morning when they set out for the great 
Tenochtitlan, 1 whether he had some notes he took 
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1 Aztec name of Mexico. 
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at various times, or whether he invented the whole 
thing, no one can say with any certainty. At any rate, 
just as does Barbour in the speech he puts into the 
mouth of Bruce at Bannockburn, so does Bernal put 
a first‐rate and enthusiastic discourse into that of 
Cone's. 

He stood out like St. Paul upon the Areopagus, and 
beckoning with his hand, "asked us to listen to him." 
" We knew," he said, "the kind of expedition on which 
we were about to start, and with the help of our 
Lord Jesus Christ 1 we shall win every battle and 
encounter. ..." 

" That we had no other help, nor could look for any 
other aid, but from God . . . and after that many 
examples of the Roman's heroic deeds." 

These must have sounded very fine, couched in 
sonorous Castilian ; and as the majority of those who 
listened to him probably heard the Roman names for 
the first time in their lives, the effect upon them must 
have been similar to that which an orator who quoted 
Greek or Latin would make at Westminster to‐day. 

All the soldiers answered him with one accord, says 
Diaz, that they were ready to accompany him, and that 
they had crossed the Rubicon. 

The historical allusions in the general's speech appear 
to have imparted quite a classical flavour to the reply 
made by the soldiery. Perhaps this flavour was the 
effect of reading in after years in the quiet of Guatemala 
long after Mexico was won. 

A vessel having appeared off the coast, Corte*s went 

1 One fails to recognise the Saviour as the God of Battles, but still no 
doubt His name stirred pious soldiery to great enthusiasm. 

t 
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off to find out what she was, leaving in charge Pedro 
de Alvarado and Gonzalo de Sandoval, a young and 
untried man, destined to become one of the first figures 
in the Conquest, and Bernal's lifelong friend. 

Having consulted with the fat Cacique which way 
to take, and having chosen that which led by Tlascala 
(a lucky thing for the Spaniards, for without the help 
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of the men of Tlascala they could have done nothing), 
they set out on their way. 

The country rises gradually, and by degrees leaves 
the mosquito‐haunted, low‐lying country of the coast, 
passing thick palm groves, and then gradually enters 
hilly country, broken and desolate. Through it the 
Spaniards must have travelled, at first toiling amongst 
the swamps, and then struggling along the ever‐ 
mounting paths. 

Their baggage was carried on the backs of porters 
whom the fat Cacique had lent ; but, as Diaz says, " we 
poor soldiers had no necessity of any of them." He 
gives one of his striking pictures of what the soldiers 
must have looked like on the march not that he intends 
it for a picture, but sets it down just as it came into his 
mind. In fact, the early scenes of his adventures seem 
to have been ever present to his memory. 

He tells us so in the phrase, " Now as I write, 
everything rises before my eyes, as if it only happened 
yesterday." 1 However, he has no need to tell us this, 
for every word he writes proves it most absolutely. 

" We had," he says, " nothing at all at that time to 
carry, for, as to our arms, as lances, guns, crossbows, 

1 Agora que lo estory escriviendo se me representa todo delante de mis 
ojos como si ayerfuera cuando esto paso. 
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and bucklers, we bore them marching and we slept with 
them and with our alpargates^ for we were shod with 
alpargates, and we were always ready for the fight." 

So much accustomed to sleeping prepared for all 
eventualities did Diaz become that even in his old age 
he never could take kindly to a bed, but slept upon 
a mat. So, in years gone by I have known cattlemen 
in both Americas who, when they came to town, after 
having put up at the best hotel the place afforded, 
could never sleep in beds ; but had either to lie down on 
the floor, or go out and sleep in the corral. 

The chronicle goes on to tell of the first town they 
came to on their march, which was called Cocotlan, 
but which was renamed Castelblanco, because some 
Portuguese soldiers said it reminded them of the town 
so called in Portugal, and all that happened to them 
there. 

The chief, one Olintecle, came out to meet and 
welcome them. It happened that a greyhound which 
belonged to a soldier, Francisco de Lugo, had barked 
all night, and Olintecle was concerned to know what 
kind of beast it was and why it made that noise. Also 
he asked if it was one of " those animals we had to kill 



2/17/2015 https://ia700504.us.archive.org/15/items/bernaldiazdelcas00cunnuoft/bernaldiazdelcas00cunnuoft_djvu.txt

data:text/html;charset=utf­8,%3Cpre%20style%3D%22color%3A%20rgb(0%2C%200%2C%200)%3B%20font­style%3A%20normal%3B%20font­variant%… 56/171

the Indians with." A pathetic question, and one that 
showed the Indians had already understood that the 
Christian faith only (like Latin 2 ) enters in with blood. 

Diaz says they answered that it was indeed a beast 

1 Alpargates, in French espadrilles that is, canvas shoes with hemp 
soles. They are still much worn by Spanish soldiers on the march. They 
are of Basque origin. The word is usually written alpargatas. 

2 The Spanish proverb has it that " El Latin con sangre entra," meaning 
that schoolboys have to be flogged to learn it. One is glad to know that in 
Cocotlan blood did not mingle with the sacrifice after the Mass. 

I 
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they had with them to kill anyone who molested them. 
Then the poor Indians, after their minds had been made 
uneasy by the answer and the baying of the dog, asked 
" What the cannons were and what we did with them ?" 

The chance was far too good to lose, " so they 
replied that we put great stones in them with which to 
slay anyone we liked." It is not to be forgotten that 
Corte*s had not neglected his opportunity to preach to 
them beforehand on the Christian faith, with somewhat, 
one may suppose, of peace on earth and goodwill to 
men in his prelection, so the answer as to the dog and 
cannons does not seem apposite, although it was the 
truth. 

They told the Indians that the horses ran like deer 
and that with them they could catch anyone who fled. 
All these things taken into consideration, it is not 
wonderful that the poor devils thought the Spaniards 
were all gods, for the very essence of a god is surely 
that he can give or take away your life. 

Diaz is again at pains to explain that the word 
Teule meant either a devil or a god ; but here he 
qualifies, saying, " I have already said " (here he forgets 
his words) "that their idols, or their gods, or bad things, 
they called Teules" Into which category the Spaniards 
fell the reader can decide. 

In Cocotlan they were advised still to keep on by the 
road of Tlascala and to avoid Cholula, which was in the 
hands of Montezuma and his chiefs. So they set out to 
Xalacingo, sending on two messengers to the chiefs of 
Tlascala with a letter and a Flemish velvet hat. The 
Indians, though they could not read, instantly under‐ 
stood by the marks on the paper that it contained a 
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message, 1 although the marks were different to their 
own. Everything hitherto had pointed to a friendly 
meeting, for Tlascala was at feud with Mexico. 

However, the messengers sent by Cortds were 
thrown into prison, from which they escaped with diffi‐ 
culty, and returned thoroughly frightened, saying that in 
Tlascala they had been told that they were ready to 
fight the Teules to see whether they were as valiant as 
had been reported, and if they beat them they would 
feast upon their flesh. 

1 Conocerian que era de mensageria. 

CHAPTER V 

As it was evident that the Tlascalans intended to op‐ 
pose their onward march, the Spaniards now prepared 
for war. Their situation was most difficult. Far 
from their base in Cempoal they found themselves 
opposed, for the first time since they had landed, to a 
large force of men who had a sort of discipline. 

Diaz, by virtue of the experience he had acquired in 
his two former expeditions, no doubt had much to say 
as to the best way to repel the Indians' attacks. " Upon 
the march," he says, " we talked about the tactics to 
pursue." It appears that the method which found most 
favour with the cavalry was to attack in threes, and 
riding at three‐quarter speed. The lances, all agreed, 
should be held short and high, so as to wound the Indians 
in the face, and avoid the risk of having them snatched 
out of their hands. 

The cavalry was few in number, hardly exceeding 
twenty horsemen, so that the loss of a few lances would 
have been a serious thing. They agreed the instant 
that they speared a man to spur their horses and either 
extricate the lance or drag the Indian's 1 body after them. 
Next day they attacked the Tlascaltecans, losing five 

1 What they intended to do, and did, can be seen at any exhibition of 
tent‐pegging, when the horseman, after extracting the peg, turns his wrist, 
and lets the lance and peg trail for an instant behind his horse. 

78 
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horses and several of their men. Bernal, who was in the 
thick of the fight, says : " That night we slept near to a 
stream, and with the grease of a fat Indian whom we had 
killed there, being opened, we dressed our wounds, for 
oil there was none ; and we supped well on certain little 
dogs that they bred there." 

The surgery was rough, but no doubt quite effectual, 
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and their stomachs must have been good to be able to 
fall to upon the little dogs after the opening up of the fat 
Indian. One wishes now and then that we could get 
details of contemporary campaigns set down so simply 
and so truthfully. 

What happens nowadays is that historians of culture 
usually are blinded by party politics, by religion, or by 
patriotic bias, whilst narratives of soldiers such as was 
Bernal Diaz, written with an eye upon the public, are 
evidently cooked for our consumption and usually strain 
every nerve to show a sense of humour and to make 
groundlings laugh. 

Bernal wrote unaffectedly, a thing almost impossible 
to find in English writers ; and though his history had a 
purpose, he knew it would be read in extenso as a book 
and not in slices in a newspaper. Hence his simplicity 
and striving after truth. 

As the Spaniards had taken several prisoners, they 
sent back one of them to ask the enemy for peace. 
Cortes enjoined a notary, one Diego Godoy, to set down 
upon paper that he had asked for peace, in case, as 
Bernal Diaz says, " that at some time we might be taken 
to task about the slaughter and the damage we had 
done." 

He need scarcely have troubled much about the 
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matter, for no one cared how many Indians he killed, 
any more than they would have cared had it been to‐ 
day. All was of no avail, and so Cortds cried, " Santiago, 
and set upon them," and " we killed and wounded many 
of them and several of their chiefs." 

Santiago must have felt that it was quite like old 
times and that the Moorish wars had begun again when 
he heard the familiar cry. 1 

However, he was upon the watch, for " in those 
battles they surrounded us on every side . . . and our 
lives were in great peril, for their warriors were so 
numerous that they might have blinded us by throwing 
earth upon us had not the great mercy of the Lord 
helped us and guarded us." 

Theologians should note that the " great mercy of 
the Lord " was pleased to manifest itself on this occasion 
on the wrong side, and against men striving to defend 
their native land from invasion. It walked in the mysteri‐ 
ous way that it not infrequently affects, when it has 
wonders to perform. In this fight the Indians killed 
a good mare that belonged to Pedro de Mor6n, and 
having cut off her head sent it round their towns to 
show that she was mortal. 
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Her shoes they offered to one of their idols. Pedro 
de Mor6n died three days afterwards of his wounds ; 
but though he was a brave soldier and a good rider, 2 
his death was not so great a loss to the Spaniards under 
the circumstances as that of the good mare. 

At this juncture Cone's gave evidence of his powers 

1 Santiago y cierr a Espana(St. James and close up Spain) was the battle‐ 
cry of the Spaniards against the Moors. 

2 Era muy buen ginete. 
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as a leader and as a diplomat, by refusing to remain idle 
in camp lest the Indians should think the Spaniards 
could be tired. Then when he had taken some prisoners, 
he let them go without harming them. In fact, the war 
with the Tlascalans had been a great surprise to him, 
for as they were the enemies of Montezuma of Mexico, 
he had expected their help. 

All was of no avail, and the Tlascalans prepared a 
great army, numbering, as Diaz says, fifty thousand. It 
may be that he only intends to convey the idea of 
number, and attaches no particular meaning to fifty 
thousand, for it is a little difficult to see from where 
such a host could have been got together at such short 
notice. 

However, I remember once being asked in the 
Atlas how many men rode out after Queen Victoria's 
carriage. I answered a " great many," and found this 
did not at all satisfy my questioner. So after considera‐ 
tion I told him, as far as I could judge, that about ten 
thousand men usually turned out in fine weather. This 
contented him, and he answered, " Ten thousand I 
thought perhaps there had been twenty thousand." To 
which I answered, " Seldom so many as that." 

Diaz in one of his delightfully human passages, so 
different from a modern man writing of a similar position, 
says : " When we saw that, (the fifty thousand warriors), 
as we were men, and consequently feared death, many 
of us, even the most of us " I fancy that a Castilian 
soldier from Medina was amongst them " confessed 
ourselves to the Mercenarian Father, and with a priest, 
Juan Diaz, and all night long we listened to the peni‐ 
tential psalms and prayed to God that He would save us 
6 
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from defeat. And in that way we passed the night, and 
of the battle that we had next day I will now tell." 
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So he concludes his chapter, and launches in the next 
into an animated description of the fight and of the 
victory that they gained owing to "the great mercy 
of God." 

In this battle, in which more than sixty soldiers and 
all the horses were wounded, Diaz received two wounds. 
One was from a stone, in the head, the other from an 
arrow, in the thigh. However, ''they were not enough 
either to leave off fighting or mounting guard for, or 
from helping our soldiers." 

Diaz always makes light of all his wounds when they 
were not serious, and never exaggerates their gravity 
even when they were. In this he demonstrates the 
sobriety of the Castilian character, so orderly and 
measured in all its turns and such an enemy of all 
extremes. Most of the conquerors were either Anda‐ 
lusians or Estremenians and were of a different stamp, 
brave and active and enterprising, but prone to see 
things either too rosy or too black. The battle really 
broke the spirit of the Tlascaltecans, 1 and paved the 
way for peace. 

"Then we went back to camp very contentedly, and 
giving many thanks to God, we buried those who were 
slain in one of those houses that they had underground, 
that the Indians should not see that we were mortals, 
but Teules as they called us ; and we threw much earth 
upon the house so that the bodies should not smell, and 

1 Tlascala being‐ the name of the town, the inhabitants can be called 
either Tlascalans or Tlascaltecans, according as we follow English or 
Spanish forms of speech. 
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we dressed all the wounded men with the grease of that 
Indian 1 of which I have already told. Oh, what bad 
luck we had ! for there was neither oil nor salt with which 
to dress our wounds. Another lack we had, and a great 
one that is, clothes with which to wrap ourselves ; for 
from the snowy sierra there came a bitter wind which 
made us shiver (though we kept up our spirits always), 
for lances, guns, and crossbows covered us but scantily." 

In reading all the negotiations that took place 
between the Spaniards and the Indians one is struck 
by the common sense and practicalness of the so‐called 
savages. Modern investigations have shown plainly 
enough that the quality of the brains of all the various 
races of mankind is almost equal, and thus destroyed 
all the old‐fashioned, unscientific theories as to the 
existence of one or two races designed by Providence 
to bear the intellectual burden of the rest. 

The Tlascalans having summoned a great council 
of their nation, came to the conclusion, Diaz tells us, 
"that we were men of bone and flesh, and that we ate 
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chickens and dogs and bread and fruit when we could 
get it, and that we did not eat the bodies of the Indians 
nor the hearts of those we killed." 

Still they had one little bit of superstition to make 
them equal to the Spaniards on all points, for, having 
laid down the propositions stated above, they came to 
the conclusion that the only time to attack the Teules 
was at night. 

It appeared rational to them and who are we to 
throw stones at the credulity of anyone? that night took 

1 This was the fat Indian they had so providentially killed in the last 
fight. 

84 BERNAL DIAZ 

away the Spaniards' strength, for they were children of 
the sun. 

Unluckily for them, the next night happened to be 
bright, and as the ground was flat, the Spanish horse‐ 
men, hearing their approach, sallied out and slaughtered 
many of them and put the rest to flight. 

The continual fighting had begun to dishearten the 
Spanish soldiers. Cortes was ill with ague, many were 
wounded, and fifty‐five men had been killed or had died 
of cold and of fatigue. A spirit of discouragement ran 
through the camp, and they began to think that they 
would all be killed ; and as to reaching Mexico, " we 
held it for a joke, and we said to each other that when 
the men of Tlascala had brought us to such a pass . . . 
that when we found ourselves at war with the great 
forces of Montezuma, what was it we could do ? " 

The discouragement seems to have lasted but a 
little while, for soon "we all told Cortes to take good 
care of himself; that we were there, and with the help 
of God, as we had escaped from so many dangerous 
fights, that our Lord must be going to save us for 
some good end." 

So they once more sent fresh messengers to sue 
for peace. Dona Marina, though a new Christian 
and a woman, behaved so bravely through this trying 
time that Diaz says : " Even though she heard every 
day that they were going to kill us and eat our flesh, 
although she had seen us so hard pressed in the past 
battles and now most of us sick and wounded, we 
never saw weakness in her, but greater strength than 
a woman generally has." 

As Bernal Diaz might have said to Dona Marina, 

BERNAL DIAZ 85 



2/17/2015 https://ia700504.us.archive.org/15/items/bernaldiazdelcas00cunnuoft/bernaldiazdelcas00cunnuoft_djvu.txt

data:text/html;charset=utf­8,%3Cpre%20style%3D%22color%3A%20rgb(0%2C%200%2C%200)%3B%20font­style%3A%20normal%3B%20font­variant%… 62/171

after God they owed the conquest to her. Still, as far 
as I know, no one can tell where she is buried, and 
only the volcano l yet preserves her name amongst the 
Mexicans. 

She was of course a traitor to her countrymen, 
having lost the whole world that is, the whole of 
her world for the love of Corte*s, and appears to 
have been quite happy in her loss or gain, according 
to the way in which one looks upon such things. 

By this time the Tlascalans had had almost enough 
of fighting, and though a chief, whom Diaz calls 
"Capitan Xicotenga el Mozo" (that is, the young 
Captain Xicotenga) still wished to try again, saying 
that as they had slain a horse and many Spaniards, 
there was still a chance to win, the rest, led by his 
father, determined to make peace. 

During the negotiations for peace with the 
Tlascalans the partisans of Velazquez began to sow 
trouble in the camp. Diaz puts their complaints into the 
mouth of one he calls a good speaker. 2 The scuttling 
of the ships seems to have been a hard doctrine 
even for Bernal to swallow, for he makes the good 
speaker say that not even Alexander or any other 
of the great captains of the world would have dared 
to do the same. This dragging in of Alexander seems 
to me an afterthought, for the soldiers, most of whom 
most certainly could neither read nor write, could 
scarcely have been so free with classical allusions when 
they set forth their woes. 

1 One of the volcanoes in the valley of Mexico is often referred to as 
La Malinche. 

2 Tenia buena expresion. 
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However, Cortes was not a man to be turned back 
either by complaints or fears. He made the dis‐ 
contented men a speech stuffed so full of classical 
allusions that he fairly drove them from the field, and 
then, turning to the future, prophesied victory, assuring 
them that the worst danger now was past and peace 
with the Tlascalans was in sight. 

A characteristic trait of Bernal Diaz's kindness of 
heart is shown by his saying, when the men all were 
pacified, in reference to the exponent of their grievances, 
" His name I will not mention, for his honour's sake." 
Many historians might take a lesson from the simple 
soldier who had nobility of heart enough to pen the 
phrase. 

Peace was made at last not signed, for one of the high 
contracting parties could not write ; but it was ratified 
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by the Indians burning incense before Cortes, bowing 
their heads, and placing their hands upon the ground. 

Diaz gives us the soldier's view of peace when 
he says 

" We gave God many thanks for it (peace) ; and it 
came in time, for we were all so thin and worn out 
and discontented with so many battles, and of never 
knowing when we should see the end of them." 

Throughout his narrative runs a noble vein of 
confidence in his leader, and he protests that once 
the army was well embarked into their adventure, that 
no one ever thought of rebellion or of mutiny. " I say 
that captain never was so well obeyed in the whole 
world." He is speaking of Cortes. " It is only natural," 
he goes on to say, " that experienced soldiers should 
advise their leader now and then." When he speaks 
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thus, one fancies that he is thinking of himself amongst 
the experienced soldiers ; for though in years he was 
one of the younger men, in experience of Indian wars 
he was a veteran. 

These sort of passages Prescott has picked out for 
censure, and from them he declares that Diaz was 
a boastful and a conceited man, vain of his exploits and 
without modesty. Nothing is further from reality. 
Prescott's mistake came from his Anglo‐Saxon point 
of view, and from having formed in his own mind a 
false idea of the Latin characteristics and of the race. 
He evidently saw in the Spaniards a vainglorious set 
of men. Had he called them sententious, rather slow‐ 
minded, but with a sense of their own value fully 
developed, much as in the Scotch, he would have been 
nearer to the truth. 

The conclusion of the peace negotiations shows to 
what a relative state of culture the Indians had attained. 
All was as formal as at a sitting of the Hague Peace 
Congress. Speeches were made, no doubt as pompous 
and as futile as they were at Bukarest or London during 
the Balkan War. 

Following immemorial use and wont (in ancient and 
in modern times), each party tried to overreach the 
other, and the peace was made, as peaces usually are 
made, from purely material interests, and in the hope 
that the alliance which grew out of it would prove of 
benefit to each party and still not prejudice the interests 
of the other, a thing as manifestly impossible in those 
times as to‐day. The chief of the Tlascalans, one 
Xicotenga, was tall and broad‐shouldered. His face 
was strong, but pitted with many holes. In his 
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demeanour he was grave, and he seemed to be a little 
more than thirty‐five years of age. So he appeared to 
Bernal Diaz, who no doubt was on guard about the 
person of Corte*s, and listened carefully to everything, 
not knowing that he was destined to be the only man 
to write it down so that posterity might know what 
had occurred. 

All this time envoys from Montezuma had been 
waiting for an audience. They brought rich presents, 
much gold and many rolls of cotton cloth, jewels and 
mantles made of humming‐birds' feathers and of those 
of the quetzal. Montezuma sent a message by them 
to beware of the Tlascalans, not to make peace with 
them, and not to come with them to Mexico. 

He was too late, for the alliance was already made, 
and even as they sat deliberating news came that the 
rest of the Tlascalan chiefs were coming in to join and 
to swear fealty, for the alliance had included admission 
to be vassals of the crown of Spain. It does not seem 
to strike Bernal as curious in the least that Cone's 
should have retained the presents sent from Mexico 
by Montezuma and at the same time practically declared 
war on him ; for an alliance with his deadliest enemies 
was tantamount to that, as every Spaniard knew. 

In order that the alliance should be properly cemented 
(for Cone's would not attend the sacrifices of Indians 
that took place to celebrate it, and as the Spaniards 
still watched at night all ready armed), an old chief called 
Maese Escaci (father of Xicotenga) hit upon a scheme. 

He said : " Malinche, 1 so that you may all see how 
well we love you, and desire to content you, we wish 

1 That is, Cortes. 
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to give our daughters to you for your wives ... for 
you are strong and valiant." 

No sooner said than done ; and shortly afterwards 
the old chief, who was blind, appeared leading his 
daughter by the hand, and followed by five other chiefs, 
each of whom brought a girl. 

When the chief came up to Cortds, he felt his face 
and beard all over with his hand so that he might have 
some idea what kind of man he was. The girls, Diaz 
informs us, were stout and strong, and, "for Indians," pretty 
and well dressed. 
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" Malinche," said the chief, "receive my daughter 
. . w take her for yourself . . . and for the rest give 
them to the other captains." 

Corte*s thanked him and answered that he would 
take the girls, but for the present it were best that they 
should stay each with her father and her family. This 
disposition of CorteV did not come from an access of 
virtue on his part, but because the damsels had not 
been baptized, and because it seemed to him a good 
occasion on which to preach against idolatry. 

So well did he expound the mysteries of our faith, 
and with such unction, that he apparently nearly suc‐ 
ceeded in breaking up the alliance that he had just 
made. At least it seems so, for when he had finished 
speaking about the abolition of human sacrifice the only 
sensible thing that he seems to have said, for all the 
rest of his discourse was on those holy dogmas of our 
faith, only to be comprehended by those who are born 
in Christian lands his captains interposed. Diaz says, 
with that curious, mechanical impartiality of his, that 
" these gentlemen, who were Pedro de Alvarado, Juan 
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Velazquez de Leon, and Francisco de Lugo, went to 
Corte*s and said that a priest who was with them had 
spoken sensibly, and that it were best to let the Indians 
alone." 

The priest, who seems to have had some glimmerings 
of sense, had remarked that it was best not to hurry 
things, and that it was not just for us to make them 
(the Indians) Christians by force, nor even, as in 
Cempoal, to throw their idols down, before they had 
some knowledge of the faith. Cone's, who was above 
all things a diplomatist, allowed himself to be persuaded, 
and when the Indian girls had duly been baptized, they 
were shared out amongst the pious soldiers of the 
cross. 

When the cacique's daughter had been baptized 
under the name of Dona Luisa, Cortds, taking her by 
the hand, gave her to Pedro de Alvarado, who, one 
imagines, received her in God's name. 

The next, who was a very pretty girl, 1 was christened 
Dona Elvira, and was given to Juan Velazquez de Leon. 
The others all were duly christened, and the incident 
was closed. 

Diaz informs us that by Dona Luisa " Pedro de 
Alvarado, being a bachelor, had a son, Don Pedro, and 
a daughter, Dona Leonor, who is now the wife of Don 
Francisco de la Cueva, a worthy gentleman and cousin 
of the Duke of Albuquerque." Thus it appears that 
Indian as well as Jewish and Moorish blood flows in 
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the veins of some of the most Christian families of 
Spain. 

These matters being settled, presumably to the 

1 Era muy hermosa. 
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satisfaction of all parties, the Spaniards took counsel 
with their new allies. The old blind chieftain Maese 
Escaci informed them of Montezuma's power, told them 
of Mexico and all its wonders, its canals and drawbridges, 
its temples, palaces, and its great riches and its power. 
He also told them that there was a legend current in 
the place that men should come from the lands where the 
sun rises and should conquer Mexico. 

Cortes, ever on the alert to take advantage of a 
point, in answer to the chieftain, who inquired if the 
Spaniards were the men spoken of in the legend, in‐ 
stantly answered yes. 

" We come," he said, " from where the sun rises, most 
certainly." This was perhaps the first and the last time 
that he declared the truth to the poor Indians in the 
whole course of his life. He then went on to say that 
his lord the Emperor had sent him for that very reason, 
and that his orders were to hold them all as brethren, 
which by the grace of God he hoped that he should do. 
To this abominable lie, Diaz says, "we all said, Amen." 

After some seventeen days spent in Tlascala to rest 
from their fatigues, and after having received four more 
ambassadors from Montezuma, who brought rich presents 
with them, they set out for Mexico. 

CHAPTER VI 

BERNAL DIAZ has one of his characteristic outbursts 
here, for after having told us about the address Corte*s 
made before they started, he says : " Many of us helped 
Cortes by calling out with a good will, * Let us go on 
then, in God's name.' ' Those who were of a contrary 
opinion were all men who had Indians in Cuba. " But 
I," he says, "and others of the poor soldiers always 
offered our souls to God who made them, and our 
bodies for wounds and hard work, until death, in the 
service of our Lord and of His Majesty." 

There were two roads by which to march to Mexico 
one by Cholula, which was a garrison of Montezuma's, 
the other by way of Guatocingo, held by friends of the 
Spaniards' allies. 

Although the Tlascalans and their chiefs implored 
Corte*s to avoid Cholula, and to put no trust in Montezuma 
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or his ambassadors who were in the camp, his judgment 
on this occasion seems to have been at fault. It may 
be that he sought to show his new allies that he was not 
dependent on their help, for in spite of all that they could 
say he took the road by Cholula, and it was to cost him 
dear. 

Diaz, who had a sound head and good judgment in 
such things, says that all the abuse of the Tlascalans in 
which the ambassadors from Mexico indulged, and all 
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their offers of assistance from their lord, were "to get 
us out of Tlascala," and so into his power. Before the 
army marched, Cortes, who understood perfectly the 
danger of his position, and did not wish to break with 
Montezuma altogether, arranged with his ambassadors 
to send two of his captains in their company to be pre‐ 
sented to the King. The two he sent were Pedro de 
Alvarado and Bernardino Vazquez de Tapia. 

Bernal Diaz, who was ill at the time of fever and 
ague and also wounded, says none of the soldiers liked 
the plan. He evidently did not care for it himself. 
So strongly did the soldiers represent their views that 
Cortes sent a dispatch to overtake the envoys ordering 
them to return. 

When the ambassadors arrived in Mexico, Monte‐ 
zuma asked them what kind of men were the two 
Spaniards who should have come with them. They 
said that Alvarado was a handsome man who looked 
like the sun. Thay had made a picture of him which 
they showed to the " Great Montezuma," as Diaz always 
styled the Emperor. Tapia, they said, was a strong‐ 
looking, heavy man, and both were captains. 

In their descriptions, Diaz says, they were exactly 
right, "for Pedro de Alvarado was of good stature and 
lightly made, and in his speech and presence and his face 
he was well graced, so that it appeared he was always 
laughing ; and Bernardino Vazquez de Tapia was rather 
heavy, though of a good appearance." We were glad, he 
says, to see them both safely back in camp, and he adds : 
"It was not a good move of CorteV to send them," 
Why, he does not explain. 

The Indians of Cholula, who seem to have been, as 
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were all those of their race throughout America, past‐ 
masters in diplomacy, in answer to a message by Cortes 
to send some of their chief men to confer with him, only 
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sent three or four poor Indians poorly dressed. This, 
of course, gave them time to make their preparations. 

Cortes, who felt himself upon sure ground now that 
he had made an alliance with the Tlascalans, sent to tell 
them to send their chiefs at once, or he would hold them 
all as rebels, and act accordingly. 

Rebellion, as we know on high authority, is as the 
sin of witchcraft, but who the Indians were to rebel 
against is not so clear. Still the word is mouth‐filling 
and does duty even to‐day to excuse injustice. The 
diplomacy of the men of Cholula was not exhausted, for 
they received the Spaniards royally, and at the same 
time sent to Montezuma for troops to fall upon them and 
take them at a disadvantage in their town. 

They had dug deep trenches in the streets and put 
up walls to prevent the cavalry from acting, and prepared 
stores of stones and arrows to shoot from the flat house‐ 
tops. In short, all was ready for what is called a 
" massacre" to‐day by newspapers when a European 
force gets itself defeated by half‐armed savages. 

Most certainly not a single Spaniard would have 
escaped had not a curious circumstance happened which 
gave them notice of the plot. An old Indian woman, 
wife of a chief, either being taken with Dona Marina's 
youth and her good looks, or perhaps having been sent 
to sound her and being led into greater confidences than 
she had intended, for Diaz leaves the matter vague, 
proposed to her to leave the camp and return with her 
to her house. 
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She said that she would marry her to a chiefs son, 
and provide for her in every way. At last, finding 
that Dona Marina did not fall in with her plans, she told 
her that it was the only way to save her life. The 
town was full of Mexicans, she said, and every Spaniard 
would be slain that very night. She pressed Marina to 
lose no time and come with her at once. 

On the pretext of packing up her jewels, she left 
the woman and at once informed Cortes. Next day he 
fell upon the Indians, who thought they had him in their 
power, and massacred them like sheep. 

Diaz, who is not as a general rule squeamish about 
recounting horrors, simply says, " We killed many of 
them, and others were burned alive." When the 
Spaniards had killed as many of the helpless Indians 
as they chose, they let the Tlascalans who had been 
camped outside the town come in and slaughter as they 
pleased. "They did them much harm," is the phrase 
that Diaz uses, and went about the town " robbing and 
making prisoners." 
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At last the massacre was so enormous that " Corte*s, 
the other captains and the soldiers, had pity on them, 
and we stopped the Tlascalans from doing them more 
harm." 

The slaughter must have been immense before the 
sentiment of pity could have touched such iron hearts. 
In fact, the butchering of the Indians of Cholula was 
perhaps the most atrocious deed of the whole Conquest, 
and is a stain upon the fame of all engaged in it. 

Diaz says, " We gave them a lesson that they 
should remember for all time," and in this instance he 
is right, for modern Mexicans, even those of Spanish 

* 
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blood, always refer to this and all the other deeds of 
blood done at the Conquest as if their ancestors had 
been the sufferers. 

This curious revulsion is not hypocrisy (which is not 
a Latin vice), but proceeds from the hatred of the 
Spaniards, which took its rise from the contempt they 
entertained for everyone born in America. 

Even in those times of blood, critics were not want‐ 
ing to protest. The great Las Casas lifted up his voice 
and, as Diaz says, " affirmed that for no cause but 
only for our own pastime, and because we wished it, 
that punishment was carried out." Diaz writes this 
indignantly, but at the same time seems to feel the need 
of some excuse, for he goes on to say : " Some good 
Religious, who were the first friars that His Majesty 
sent to New Spain after that Mexico was won . . . 
went to Cholula to find out and to learn and to inquire 
how and in what manner that punishment occurred, and 
the true reason of it, and the inquiry that they made was 
with the very priests and elders of the town ; and after 
that they came to know the facts they found them 
neither more nor less than those that I have written in 
my history, and that if we had not given them the 
punishment that all our lives had been in peril from 
them." 1 

That is self‐evident, and occurs in Africa to‐day 
whenever Europeans find themselves in the like cir‐ 
cumstances. 

Diaz gives little description of the town, except 
to say that when they saw its towers and the white 

1 It was, in fact, a punitive expedition, as we facetiously call an expedi‐ 
tion to punish men whose country we have stolen. 
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houses that it reminded them of Valladolid. Cortes 
himself in his second letter to the Emperor Charles v. 
describes it accurately. 

" This city of Cholula," he writes, "is situated in a 
plain and has some twenty thousand inhabitants inside 
the town, and suburbs of equal size. . . . It is the city 
most suitable for Spaniards to live in that I have seen, 
between here and the ports, for it has well‐watered 
pastures for breeding cattle, such as none other of the 
towns that I have seen, for there are so many people 
in these parts that there is not a hand's‐breadth of the 
ground uncultivated, and still with all this cultivation 
they suffer from the lack of bread. The people of this 
city are better dressed than those of Tlascala, for the 
richer citizens all wear burnouses over their other 
clothes, though they are different from those in use 
in Africa, for they have armholes ; but in their make 
and cloth and in the borders they are very much the 
same." 

As to Tlascala, which town Diaz gives no description 
of, Corte*s says : " This city is so large and has so many 
things worthy to be admired in it that though there is 
much I leave untold, the little that I will say is almost 
incredible, for it is larger than Granada, and far stronger, 
and has as good buildings, 1 and there are far more 
people in it than Granada had when it was first won, 
and better provision of all things of the earth, as bread 
and fowls and game, and fish from the rivers, and 
vegetables and many good provisions that they eat. 

1 Cortds must have forgotten the Alhambra, for there was no building 
standing in America in his time to compare with it, either in beauty or 
in size. 

7 
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There is a market in this city in which more than thirty 
thousand people are to be seen daily selling and buying, 
besides many more smaller markets in different quarters 
of the town. In this market they sell all kinds of things, 
as provisions, clothes, and shoes. There are jewellers' 
shops where they sell gold and silver work and precious 
stones, and other jewels made of feathers, and all is as 
well managed as any market of the world. 

" They sell all kinds of pottery and of very good class, 
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as good as is the best in Spain. Charcoal is on sale, and 
wood, and herbs of all kinds, both for medicine and the 
pot. There are houses where the barbers wash and 
shave the head, and bath‐houses. Finally, there is 
excellent order kept amongst them, and they are people 
of good understanding and policy, so that the best of 
Africa do not rival them." 1 

These were the cities that the young Bernal Diaz 
saw on his arrival in the New World. In his book, 
written in his old age, he says but little of them, keeping 
himself perhaps for his great and interesting description 
of Mexico itself. Still, being a man with such a memory 
for detail as he was, it is reasonable to suppose that he 
recalled them in his mind at least as vividly as they are 
described for us by his general. His style is far less 
cultured than was that used by Cone's ; but, on the other 
hand, more interesting, perhaps by the very lack of 
culture that it shows. 

Whilst all the massacring was going on in Cholula, 
and for a fortnight afterwards, Montezuma never ceased 

1 Y es gente de toda razon. It is a pity that the Spaniards and their 
descendants conveniently forget this, and denied the possession of reason by 
the Indians, saying they were but beasts. 
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from sending messengers to the Spanish camp. Diaz 
sometimes refers to them as spies ; at other times as 
ambassadors, and it may well have been that they par‐ 
took a little of both characters. 

It is impossible not to admire both the tenacity and 
the diplomatic talents of Corte's. Nothing was able to 
turn him from his fixed design of pushing on. Situated 
as he was, far from the coast, without supplies or hope 
of reinforcements, his ships destroyed, and in the midst 
of thousands of men who though ill‐armed could have 
destroyed the Spaniards by throwing earth upon them, 
as Diaz puts it, his confidence was great. Embassies 
came and went between the camp and Mexico, until at 
last Montezuma, either worn out or what the Scotch 
call " fey," yielded the point, and sent six of his chief 
men to bring a present of much gold and jewels and to 
invite Cortes to visit him. 

Montezuma seems to have been from the first 
anxious to see the Spaniards, although his councillors 
strongly advised him not to allow them to visit him. 
Diaz says that the soldiers, especially those who like him‐ 
self had neither land nor Indians in Cuba, were eager to 
push on. The Tlascala Indians warned Corte's against 
the expedition, saying that Montezuma was not to be 
trusted, and those from Cempoal took fright and returned 
home, in spite of all the efforts of Corte's. 

Two roads led on to Mexico ; but by both of them 
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the mountains had to be crossed. They parted at the 
top of a ridge, and as he had been warned by the 
inhabitants of Guazocingo, through which he passed, 
that one of them was fortified and blocked with strong 
stockades, he sent for Montezuma's messengers and 
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asked for their advice. Though Diaz says nothing of it, 
one may suppose that advice was a euphuism, and that 
what he really did was to threaten them till they told 
him which road was unfortified. They said that the one 
that passed by Chalco was the best, as it was open all 
the way. Cortes, either because he thought they did 
not speak the truth, or for some other reason, hard to 
define, chose the road that he knew was blocked. 

Diaz says the passage of it was very arduous, the cold 
intense, and the way steep and stony, and to make 
matters worse it began to snow and afterwards to freeze. 
They slept in Indian shelter‐houses, and anyone who 
has done the same knows what a miserable night they 
must have passed, coming as they did straight from the 
coast lands. Diaz calls these shelter‐houses mesones, 
an old‐fashioned word still used in Mexico. In Spanish 
Bibles it is used for the Oriental khan, and Joseph and 
his brethren are said to have stopped at a meson. 
These shelters are the Tambos of the Peruvian Andes, 
and probably in Montezuma's time were but four 
walls with a small lean‐to roof in a corner, under which 
the travellers lighted a fire. 

Cortes says in his second letter to the Emperor that 
from this ridge they first caught sight of Mexico. If 
this is so, few men can have seen anything more wonder‐ 
ful, for from a distance, and surrounded by its lakes, the 
city must have appeared marvellous, set in a sea of 
gardens, and backed by the two volcanoes clothed in 
perpetual snow. As they prepared to start, four more 
ambassadors appeared, bringing rich presents, and a 
request that the Spaniards should not enter Mexico. 
They tried by all means in their power to prevent 
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Cortes advancing, talking of the bad roads and the lack 
of food upon the way. 

To all their arguments, says Diaz, Cortds listened 
most courteously, and then embracing them, told them 
that his Emperor had given his command that he should 
go at any cost, and so set out on the last stage of his 
eventful journey, not knowing what would happen at the 
end. In fact, it was the only choice he had, for had he 
then turned back and confessed failure, the Indians in 
the towns that he had passed would certainly have 
attacked him, and not a man would have survived. 
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Bernal Diaz seems to have appreciated the position 
at its full value, for he quotes with unction CorteV speech, 
in which he said that the Lord Jesus Christ had guarded 
them from all past dangers and would protect them from 
all those to come. From thence the march led between 
towns and villages, past temples and tall towers, mostly 
built on the edges of the lakes. The whole scene was so 
novel and so strange, the sense of present danger was so 
great, and the bewilderment of the Spaniards so complete 
when they saw the numberless canoes upon the lakes, 
the various chiefs who came to meet them with their 
followers, that Bernal Diaz marvels how he is able to 
describe it all, "for it is wonderful," he says, "how I can 
write about it ... and I can scarcely tell about so many 
things, neither before either heard or seen or dreamed 
about, such as we saw that day." 

He tells about the fruit trees and the birds, the 
fields of maize, the flowers, the rose bushes, and the 
ponds of water, " for I was never tired of looking at the 
diversity of trees and smelling their perfumes." 

The town of Iztapalapa seems to have been what 
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moved him to the greatest admiration. " I say once 
more that I kept looking at it all, and I thought that 
not in the whole world could there be any lands like 
these, for in those days there was no Peru, or mention 
of it." Then without comment, but so drily that one 
fancies that it lets one see into his thoughts, he adds, 
" Now all this town is ruined, lying on the ground and 
lost, and not a stone of it remains." 

" Let us pass on," he says, as if he felt the pity of it, 
"and I will tell how the caciques of that town and those 
of Cuzocoan brought a present of gold worth about two 
thousand crowns." 

Then comes another passage, which the old soldier 
must have penned with regret in his old age. 

" At that time it was a mighty town, built half on 
land and half in the water ; now all the ground is dry, 
and men now sow where once there was a lake, and it 
is all so changed that if I had not seen it, I should not 
say what I have said, for it appears impossible that all 
the land was full of water then, and now is sown with 
maize . . . and all so spoiled." 

Nothing of all that, he could have felt at that time, 
for next day, after a short march, they entered Mexico. 

CHAPTER VII 
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" NEXT day early in the morning we left Iztapalapa, 
and followed on a paved road, about eight paces wide, 
which goes so straight to the City of Mexico that it 
appears to me there is not a bend in it." 

Had Bernal Diaz taken notes, most probably the 
description of Mexico that he gives would have been 
as lifeless as that of an ordinary, modern traveller ; but 
the notes that he took were photographed upon his 
brain and had become a part of it, so that all he had to 
do was to develop what was there. 

Diaz remarks that the reciprocal astonishment of 
Spaniards and Mexicans was great. The Spaniards 
wondered at the great city they beheld, and on the tops 
of towers, on temple roofs, and crowding every bridge 
stood crowds of Mexicans, It was no wonder, as he 
says, "for they had never either seen horses or men 
such as ourselves." All seems to surge up in his mind, 
as he writes, after so many years, and most of all he 
wonders at the daring of himself and of his friends. 

We were no more than four hundred and fifty men 
all told, he says. Truly the Spaniards must have 
seemed but a small band, as on that morning, in the 
rising sun, with the white mists just rising from the 
lakes, they marched along the paved road, straight 
down towards the unknown town. Borne high upon a 
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litter, with his chief warriors on either side, the Spaniards 
beheld Montezuma coming to meet Cortes. Upon the 
one hand and the other were the lords of Iztapalapa, 
of Tacuba, Tezcuco, and Cuyoacan, and as the litter 
made its way through the dense crowd of the assembled 
Mexicans, the Emperor alighted, close to some little 
towers just outside Mexico. 

The chiefs supported him as he advanced, under a 
canopy "marvellously rich." It was a vivid green, and 
made of feathers richly worked in gold, with silver and 
with pearls and green transparent stones. 1 

The Emperor's sandals were all jewelled and the 
soles made of gold. In front of him there went a band 
of chiefs who swept the ground on which he was to 
pass, 2 and afterwards they laid down cloths for him to 
walk upon. None of the chiefs dared ever look the 
Great Montezuma (as Diaz calls him) in the face, except 
the four who held him up, who were related to 
him. 

Cortds, who was a gentleman, got off his horse and 
advanced towards the Emperor. They saluted one 
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another with great courtesy, and Cortes made a gesture 
as if he wished to give his hand to Montezuma. " I 
think that Montezuma would not suffer this, but gave 
his to Cone's." 

Cortes then took a necklace of coloured glass and 
hung it over Montezuma's neck, and would have 
embraced him, had not one of the attendant chiefs 

1 Piedras chalchihuis . Perhaps these were pieces of matrix emerald, 
but commentators (as is usual) disagree. 

9 This interesting custom might be brought into use at home. Heredit‐ 
ary legislators would no doubt be glad to serve their sovereign as street 
sweepers. 
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detained his arm. 1 The Spaniards, on the other hand, 
under no obligation to cast down their eyes a practice 
most un‐Spanish no doubt looked at the Emperor as 
so much walking loot, and Bernal Diaz, one may be 
sure, gazed also, taking in every detail of the scene. 

Thus they entered into Mexico, and Montezuma, 
having accompanied them to the quarters that he had 
caused to be prepared, took leave of them and went 
back to his palace, which was close at hand. 

If he slept well that night, is not related ; but in any 
case it must have been the last night that he passed 
undisturbed in the short spell of life that was assigned 
to him. 

Nothing is more remarkable than the way in which 
Diaz always presents a portrait of anyone who is 
essential to his book. How difficult an art it is, only 
those know who have essayed it, and that it is an art easy 
to fail in can be seen almost every day in newspapers 
and books. 

" The Great Montezuma," he says, " would be about 
forty years of age, and of good stature, and well made, 
lean, and without much flesh, and his complexion not 
too dark, but of the proper shade and hue that befits an 
Indian, and he wore his hair not very long, but so that 
it covered up his ears, his beard small, black and growing 
well but thinly, and his face rather long and merry, his 
eyes were pleasant, and all his person showed a good 
disposition, and when necessary he could be grave. 

1 History repeats itself. Did not a viceroy at a reception actually in a 
fine poetic frenzy once throw his arm to show his friendly feelings over 
the shoulder of an Indian prince. His kindly, if romantic, action probably 
defiled the man and caused him days vipoojah to take off the stain. 
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"He was both clean and careful in his dress, and 
bathed once every day, towards evening." 1 

The long description that Diaz gives of Mexico, 
Prescott and others have made known to the world. It is 
the most minute and careful that possibly exists of any 
city seen in like circumstances, and with the letters of 
Corte*s, form all that is known of the appearance of the 
city at the time. When he has finished it, Diaz, who 
probably wrote at white heat, with all the memories of 
his youth crowding into his brain, says, " And because 
I am tired of writing of this matter, and my readers will 
be as tired, I leave off talking of it." 

Diaz says, " Such was our adventurous and daring 
entry into the great city of Tenostitlan 2 on the eighth 
day of the month of November, and in the year 1579 
of our Lord Jesus Christ. Thanks be to the Lord 
Jesus Christ for all." There is a Scottish but most 
unnecessary proverb in a Scotchman's mouth, " Lord, 
gie us a guid conceit of ourselves," which seems to have 
been also known in Spain, at least in spirit, judging 
by many passages in Bernal Diaz's book. 

The first few days the Spaniards spent in Mexico 
were like a dream. Montezuma took them to see the 
city, the temples, and the streets. " With us were soldiers 
who had been in many parts of the world, in Constanti‐ 
nople, and in all Italy, and Rome, and they said that a 
great square, so well laid out, with such a plan, and 

1 Diaz seldom breaks up his sentences, but uses commas after every 
phrase through a long paragraph, just as we do in legal documents. The 
effect in such a portrait as I have quoted is often lifelike. One almost hears 
his long sigh of relief as he lays down his pen. 

2 Sometimes he spells Tenostitlan, at others Tenochtitldn, and in several 
other ways. 
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size, and with so many people in it, they had seen 
nowhere." 

Diaz himself says that it was larger than the great 
square of Salamanca, 1 and that it was paved. Nothing 
impressed him more than the view from the great 
temple, "for that great and accursed temple 2 was so 
high that it dominated everything, and from it we saw 
the three paved roads that entered Mexico, and we 
saw the aqueduct that comes from Chapultepec, which 
supplies the town, and across their roads, the bridges 
thrown here and there, underneath which entered the 
water of the lake and we saw all about the various 
towns, temples and shrines, all built like castles or like 
forts, and so shining white that it was marvellous, and 
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after we had looked well at it all, and had considered 
what we saw, we turned again to look at the great 
square and at the multitude that filled it, some buying, 
others selling. 

"The noise they made and the hum of so many 
voices could be heard a league away." 

Naturally, the first difference that the Spaniards had 
with Montezuma was about religion that sweet religion 
for which the first blood shed in the world was spilled. It 
was not wonderful that Diaz who had left Spain a boy, 
and came from a small provincial town, should be 
astonished at the sight of the great Tenostitlan. 

Cortes himself tells us in his second letter to the 
Emperor Charles v. that Mexico was quite as large as 
Seville or as Cordoba. It probably stood over much 

1 The writer known as the " Anonymous Conqueror" says it was three 
times as large. 

2 Upon its right now stands the Cathedral. 
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more ground than either of those cities, and its position 
was (and is) incomparably fine. The great volcanoes 
in the distance, the cultivated plain, the lakes, then 
covered with canoes that went and came in hundreds, 
the canals which gave an air of Venice, the drawbridges, 
the busy, chattering crowds, the temples and high towers, 
the look as of a capital of a great state, the wealth and 
the bright climate, all combined to fill the imagination 
of men who from the day that they were born had fought 
with poverty. Here was the dreamed of El Dorado, at 
last patent to all their eyes. Here was the nation of 
idolaters that they were providential instruments to save. 
Lastly, here was the gold that sanctifies, that wipes out 
bloodshed, atones for cruelty, makes man as God, so 
that he gets enough of it, and which then as now went 
hand in hand with faith, with but this difference, that 
Diaz and his bold compeers believed themselves the 
instruments of God, whilst we go out to spread the light 
of progress and of peace. 

Progress and civilisation misapplied, are the chief 
curses that Europeans have carried to the remotest 
corners of the earth, slaying, enslaving, and conquering 
in their name. 

Diaz, although he got scant honour and no gold from 
Mexico, had at least golden recollections in his old age 
of the great city that he helped to overthrow. With 
simple faith and some prolixity he tells of the construc‐ 
tion of the church the Spaniards built. Their zeal was 
so intense they finished it within three days and set the 
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cross up right in front of it. Mass was said in it, until 
their wine gave out. Diaz, whose piety never inter‐ 
fered with his artistic sense, tells us the reason was that 
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Cortes, the friar, and several captains had been ill, and 
all the wine had been used up to give them strength, 
except a little, which they had kept for Mass. Their 
supply of powder too was running short, so that they 
found themselves deprived of their best arms, temporal 
and spiritual alike. 

Diaz did not despair, although he probably was 
quite aware of the dangerous position they were in. 
He says, " Our Lord put His hand to all our enter‐ 
prises," and this, of course, may have been true enough. 
Still, as a good soldier, Diaz was one of those who with 
" four of our captains " went to Cortes to put him on his 
guard against the wiles of Montezuma. 

They put before him all the difficulties of the situation, 
and said they all were in such fear that their food turned 
to poison in their stomachs as they ate. 1 

When Corte*s heard this he told them that he was 
not asleep, and then revealed his plan to make a prisoner 
of Montezuma. Nothing more foolhardy or at the same 
time simpler and more likely of success ever entered 
anybody's brain. Had Corte"s not been called away to 
repel the forces that Velazquez sent against him under 
Narvaez, most likely Mexico would have been his with‐ 
out a blow. 

At first the soldiers were afraid to venture all for 
all, but after much deliberation they agreed. 

Diaz says, "As we had determined the day before 
to make a prisoner of Montezuma we passed the night 
in prayer, beseeching God that it might all turn out 
for His holy service." So may a band of brigands 

1 Ni con cuanta comida que comiamos^ que todo se nos hacia rejalgarea el 
estomago. 

I 
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pray for their success before they go out to their work, 
and so do armies pray, each side beseeching God that 
their guns may be directed for His service, even in 
wars to‐day. 

The Spaniards' prayers seem to have been answered, 
for Montezuma made no resistance, and had he done so, 
Captain Juan Velazquez de Leon was quite prepared 
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to run his sword through him, observing that by doing 
so he would either lose or save their lives. 

So Montezuma was made prisoner in his own capital, 
but the Spaniards found that for all that their position 
still grew worse. They did not make things easier by 
burning several of Montezuma's captains who had 
attacked the fort Cortds had built at Cempoal and 
killed the Governor. Diaz sees in the execution an 
act of strength ; but who shall say just where strength 
ends and cruelty begins ? Yet Diaz was by no means 
bloodthirsty ; but probably considered any attempt of 
the Mexicans to be free was as the sin against the Holy 
Ghost. During the imprisonment of Montezuma, Diaz 
shows himself at his best. He was proud of the fact 
that Montezuma saw he was a gentleman, and relates 
how he always saluted the poor captive when he went 
to and fro. 

" And as at that time I was young, when I happened 
to be on duty guarding him, or when I passed before 
him, always with respect, I took my steel cap off and 
saluted him." 

The goodwill Montezuma showed him moved him 
to ask him "to give him as a favour a pretty Indian 
girl." Montezuma, who knew that a king's face should 
show grace, called him and said, " Bernal Diaz del 
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Castillo, they tell me that you are poor * in gold and 
clothes, so I will tell them to give you a pretty girl. 
Treat her well ; she is the daughter of a chief. They 
will also give you gold and native cloth." 

" I answered with great respect that I kissed his 
hands for so great a favour, and hoped that God 
would prosper him." 

Manners have little altered in essentials, as we know ; 
but somehow the natural air of the transaction puts it 
on a higher footing than the casual amours of a young 
man of Bernal Diaz's rank in the India or China of 
to‐day. 

During the first part of his captivity Montezuma 
seems to have lived on easy terms with all the 
Spaniards. Diaz shows him to us as a man not devoid 
of humour, in his account of the game of totoloque, which 
they all played to pass the time. 

" Sometimes Montezuma played with Cortes at 
totoloque, which is a game to which they give that 
name." They played it with little quoits made of gold, 
and it appears the scoring was marked upon the 

1 Diaz makes Montezuma say to him, " Eres motolinea de oro." 
Motolinea or Motolinia was an Indian word meaning poor. The Mexicans 
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called the preaching friar Toribio de Benavente Motolinia, because he 
would never own property, and always went barefooted. He wrote an 
interesting account of the country. In his Memoriales, published in Mexico 
by Izcahalzet, 1903, amongst other interesting passages, he has one on 
humming‐birds. He tells us that the Indians believed these birds died in 
the winter and came to life again in spring, but that some men did not 
believe it. As he was preaching one day to the Indians, in spring, on the 
immortality of the soul, he saw his audience was not convinced. As it 
chanced, in the middle of his sermon, a humming‐bird came to life again 
and flew over the Indians' heads. Pointing to it he said, " Behold the truth 
of what I say. Who that has seen this miracle can question immortality ? " 
The illustration was an apt one, the thought was beautiful, and White of 
Selborne seems to have been of the same opinion in regard to swallows. 

r 
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ground. " I remember that Cortds played with Pedro 
de Alvarado and the Great Montezuma with a cousin 
of his own, a chief, and Pedro de Alvarado always 
marked a notch more than did Corte*s. When 
Montezuma saw this he said laughingly that he did 
not wish Tonatio, for thus they called Pedro de 
Alvarado, to play with Corte*s, for he made much 
iseoxol, which in their language means to cheat, and 
somehow always seemed to win. Cortes and all of us 
who were on guard, laughed heartily at what Montezuma 
said. People will ask why was it that we laughed ? It 
was because Pedro de Alvarado, being as he was a 
handsome man and easy mannered, liked to talk a little 
carelessly, and we all knew it but to return again back 
to our game. If Cone's gained he gave the jewels that 
he won to Montezuma's cousin, and if Montezuma won 
he gave his winnings to those of us who were on 
guard." 

As neither Cortes nor any of the Spaniards had any 
jewels of their own, all had to come from Montezuma's 
pocket, which of course was natural enough in the 
position he was placed. For all that, Diaz seems to 
have been aware, almost alone of all the conquerors, that 
Montezuma was a prince. He says after having told 
us that he saluted Montezuma with respect that 
" besides being King of Mexico his person and 
condition invited respect." In all the writings of the 
Conquerors hardly a phrase of the same kind occurs in 
speaking of an Indian Chief. More frequently they 
are referred to as " heathen dogs," as "infidels," as 
" people without reason," and other epithets are liberally 
bestowed upon them, which in the end resolve them‐ 
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selves into bald statements of the facts that the Indians 
























































































































































































